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We hereby submit the Directors' Report of Shufersal Ltd. (hereinafter – "Shufersal" or "the Company") for 

the year 2015 (hereinafter – "2015" or "the reporting period")
1
, in accordance with the Securities Regulations 

(Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970, (hereinafter –"the reporting regulations"). Shufersal together with 

its subsidiaries and associate companies are hereinafter called “the Shufersal Group” or “the Group”. 

 

1. Explanations of the Board to the State of the Company's Affairs  
 

1.1 Principal data regarding the business affairs of the Company 
 

Shufersal is the owner of the largest supermarket chain in Israel, which operates 277 branches throughout the 

country in a few formats over a total area of approximately 514 thousand square meters. The Company employs 

about 12.1 thousand employees (calculated positions) and has annual sales of about NIS 11.5 billion. As at 

December 31, 2015 and the date of issuing this report, the controlling shareholder of the Company is Discount 

Investment Corporation Ltd.  

 

1.1.1 Description of operating segments reported as business segments in the consolidated financial 

statements of the Company 

 

The Company operates in three operating segments that are reported as business segments in the Company’s 

financial statements, the retail segment, the real estate segment and the credit card customers’ club management 

segment 
For details regarding the aforesaid operating segments, see Note 32 to the Company’s consolidated financial 

statements for 2015 (hereinafter – “the financial statements”). 

 

1.1.2 Management’s discussion of principal results for 2015 

 

The Company’s results were affected by several matters: 

 In 2015 the Company continued to implement the Company’s business plan that was approved by 

the Company’s Board of Directors in July 2014 (see Note 1.B.(1) to the Company’s financial 

statements that are included in the Company’s periodic report for 2015 (“the periodic report”)) 

(“the business plan”). 

 Developments in the Mega retail chain. See Section 8.5.1 of Part A of the periodic report. 

Besides leading to the sale of Mega’s discount stores to various parties in the discount market, the 

developments in the Mega retail chain also led to a shortage of products in Mega’s stores, the 

closing of its online store and the employees of Mega calling a onetime strike of all its stores, 

circumstances which led to customers deserting it in favor of the other retail chains, including the 

Company. In 2015 the Company adapted its activity to the changes that occurred in Mega and to the 

entry of retail chains in the discount market into those stores of Mega that were sold to the retail 

chains in the discount market as aforesaid. The  Company is continuing to follow the events taking 

place in Mega and their results, and it is preparing itself for handling various scenarios including, an 

increase in the competition in the discount market and the retails chains operating in the discount 

market potentially purchasing Mega’s stores in city centers (“Mega in the City” format) which may 

lead to an increase in competition also in the arena of neighborhood supermarkets.  

 In 2015 the Company continued to expand and strengthen the private label as part of the Company’s 

strategy, including launching new products in leading categories such as the dairy and meat 

categories. In 2015 the sales of the Company’s private label products constituted about 15% of all 

its retail sales, which is an increase compared to the rate of private label sales in 2014 (about 11.5% 

of all its retail sales). 

  

                                                      
1
 For purposes of this report, “the reporting date” or “the date of the report” is the date of the statement of financial position 

(December 31, 2015) unless stated otherwise or implied otherwise by the context of the matter. 
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 The Company continued to accelerate the development of its digital platforms, mainly the 

“Shufersal Online” system and the mobile application and to examine improving the efficiency of 

the operating processes related to the “Shufersal Online” distribution setup. In 2015 there was a 

significant increase in the Company’s sales through Shufersal Online, and the sales constituted 

about 6% of the Company’s total sales (compared with 4% in 2014). 

 Real estate efficiency continued to improve according to the business plan that included shutting 

down and reducing the size of branches. 

 In 2015 the Company continued in its efforts to complete the change in the supply chain system, 

and in the first quarter of 2016 it began gradual operation of the Company’s new logistics center in 

Shoham. For details on the Company’s distribution system see Section 8.15 of Part A of the 

periodic report. 

 Various regulatory developments, such as the Law for the Promotion of Competition in the Food 

Industry – 2014 (“the food law”) and the first stage of raising the minimum wages in Israel that 

came into effect in April 2015. 

 

 

1.1.3 Dividend 

 

On February 18, 2014 the Company distributed a dividend in the amount of NIS 70 million. On 

February 28, 2016, subsequent to the date of the statement of financial position, the Company’s Board 

of Directors declared the distribution of a cash dividend in the total amount of NIS 100 million. The 

said dividend did not require court approval, and as at the date of this report it has not yet been paid. See 

Note 20.B to the financial statements for details. 

 

As at December 31, 2015, the Company’s “profits” for purposes of the profit test pursuant to 

Section 302 of the Companies Law, 1999 (“the Companies Law”) amount to about NIS 326 million, 

where a dividend distribution by the Company, to the extent the Company’s Board of Directors decides 

to make such a distribution, will be in accordance with the Companies Law and subject to the 

distribution conditions provided therein, to the restrictions provided in the terms of the debentures that 

were issued by the Company (see Section 5 hereunder and Note 17 to the financial statements) and to all 

other provisions of law. 
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1.2 Analysis of the Results of Operations 
 

1.2.1 Analysis of the results for 2015 as compared to 2014 

 

 Results of operations 

 2015 2014 

 % NIS millions % NIS millions 

 

Revenues   11,505     11,602  

Gross profit 24.2%  2,789  22.8%  2,648  

Selling, marketing, administrative      

 and general expenses 21.9% (2,515) 23.2% (2,695) 

Operating profit (loss) before     

 other income 2.4%  274  (0.4%) (47) 

Other income (expenses), net   3   (1) 

Increase in fair value and gain on sale     

 of investment property, net   9    12  

Operating profit (loss) after     

 other income   286   (36) 

Financing expenses, net  (87)  (103) 

Profit (loss) before taxes on income   199   (139) 

     

Taxes on income  (46)   32  

     

Profit (loss) for the year   153   (107) 

 

Retail segment revenues amounted to NIS 11,456 million in 2015 compared with NIS 11,553 million in the 

previous year, a decrease of 0.8%. Conversely, there was no change in the Company’s turnover as compared to 

last year. The decrease in revenues is mainly due to an increase in the activity of franchisers
2
 in the Company’s 

stores, and the sales attributable to the franchisers’ activity being included in turnover whereas only the fees 

received from the aforesaid activity of the franchisers are included in revenue. 
 

Same store
3
 sales increased by 0.4%. 

The sales per square meter
4
 in 2015 were NIS 22,299, compared with NIS 21,400 in the previous year, an 

increase of 4.2% that is mainly due to a reduction in selling areas. 

 

Real estate segment revenues amounted to NIS 180 million in 2015, compared with NIS 178 million in the 

previous year, an increase of 1.1%. 

 

Revenues from the credit card customers’ club management segment
5
 amounted to NIS 67 million in 2015, 

compared with NIS 63 million in the previous year, an increase of 6.3%. 

 

The Company’s revenues amounted to NIS 11,505 million in 2015 compared with NIS 11,602 million in the 

previous year, a decrease of 0.8%, as a result of the aforesaid. 

  

                                                      
2
 The Company has agreements with a number of franchisers who operate various sale stands in the Company’s stores and 

pay the Company a fee  from the total amount of sales attributable to the sale stands operated by those franchisers. 
3
 Same stores – stores that were active in corresponding periods of the two comparison years. 

4
 The areas of the new branches are calculated proportionately from the date the branch was opened. The area of the branch 

is the gross area including selling areas and other operating areas. 
5
 The comparative data for 2014 were reclassified so as to reflect the credit card customers’ club management segment. 
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The gross profit amounted to NIS 2,789 million in 2015 compared with NIS 2,648 million in the previous year, 

an increase of NIS 141 million. The gross profit rate was 24.2% in 2015 compared with 22.8% in the previous 

year. The increase in the amount of the gross profit and in its rate is mainly due to an improvement in trade 

terms, a change in the mix of the franchisers, an increase in the share of the private label and an increase in 

efficiency following implementation of the business plan. 

 

Selling, marketing, administrative and general expenses amounted to NIS 2,515 million in 2015 compared 

with NIS 2,695 million in the previous year. The ratio of expenses to revenues was 21.9% compared with 23.2% 

in the previous year. The decrease in expenses was mainly due to shutting down and reducing the size of 

branches, an increase in efficiency and non-recurring expenses in the previous year. 

 

The operating profit before other income in the retail segment amounted to NIS 151 million in 2015, a rate 

of 1.3%, compared with a loss of NIS 171 million and a rate of 1.5% in the previous year, an increase of NIS 

322 million that is due to the aforesaid. 

 

The operating profit before other income in the real estate segment amounted to NIS 149 million in 2015 

compared with NIS 148 million in the previous year.  

 

The operating profit before other income in the credit card club customers’ management segment 
amounted to NIS 44 million in 2015 compared with NIS 37 million in the previous year. 

 

The Company’s operating profit after other income amounted to NIS 286 million in 2015 and to a rate of 

2.5% of revenues, compared with a loss of NIS 36 million and 0.3% of revenues in the previous year, an 

increase of NIS 322 million that is due to the aforesaid.  

 

The operating profit before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) amounted to NIS 542 million and a 

rate of 4.7% in 2015, compared with NIS 344 million and a rate of 3% in the previous year. The increase is 

mainly due to the improvement in operating profit as aforesaid. 

 

Financing expenses net, amounted to NIS 87 million and a rate of 0.8% in 2015, compared with NIS 103 

million and a rate of 0.9% in the previous year. The decrease is mainly due to the CPI decreasing at a higher rate 

in 2015 than in 2014. Moreover, the financing expenses decreased following a decrease in the Company’s total 

debt. Conversely, there was a decrease in interest income from securities in which the Company invests its 

monetary balances mainly because of the Company selling its securities portfolio in the first quarter of the year. 

 

Tax expenses amounted to NIS 46 million in 2015, compared with income from taxes of NIS 32 million in the 

previous year. The increase is mainly due to an  improvement in the profit before tax as a result of the aforesaid.  

 

The profit amounted to NIS 153 million in 2015, compared with a loss of NIS 107 million in the previous year. 

 

The Company’s basic and diluted earnings per share amounted to NIS 0.71 in 2015, compared with basic 

and diluted loss per share of NIS 0.52 in the previous year. 
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1.2.2 Analysis of the results for 2014 as compared to 2013 

 

 Results of operations 

 2014 2013 

 % NIS millions % NIS millions 

 

Revenues   11,602    11,909  

Gross profit 22.8%  2,648  24.5% 2,921  

Selling, marketing, administrative      

 and general expenses 23.2% (2,695) 20.9% (2,494) 

     

Operating profit before other income (0.4%) (47) 3.6%  427  

Other expenses  (1)  (12) 

Increase in fair value and gain on sale     

 of investment property, net   12    23  

     

Operating profit after other income  (36)   438  

Financing expenses, net  (103)  (159) 

Profit (loss) before taxes on income  (139)   279  

     

Taxes on income   32   (69) 

     

Profit (loss) for the year  (107)   210  

 

Retail segment revenues amounted to NIS 11,553 million in 2014 compared with NIS 11,861 million in 2013, 

a decrease of 2.6%. Same store
6
 sales decreased by 3.2%. 

The sales per square meter
7
 in 2014 were NIS 21,400, compared with NIS 21,600 in 2013, a decrease of 0.9%. 

The decrease in revenues and in sales per square meter is mainly the result of a slowdown in consumption and 

the lowering of prices as part of the aforesaid business plan. 

 

Real estate segment revenues amounted to NIS 178 million in 2014, compared with NIS 176 million in 2013, 

an increase of 1.1%. 

 

Revenues from the credit card customers’ 
8
club management segment amounted to NIS 63 million in 2014, 

compared with NIS 56 million in 2013, an increase of 12.5%. 

 

The Company’s revenues amounted to NIS 11,602 million in 2014 compared with NIS 11,909 million in 2013, 

a decrease of 2.6%. 

 

The gross profit amounted to NIS 2,648 million in 2014 compared with NIS 2,921 million in 2013, a decrease 

of NIS 273 million. The gross profit rate was 22.8% in 2014 compared with 24.5% in 2013. The decrease in the 

amount of the gross profit and in its rate is mainly due to a lowering of prices following the aforesaid business 

plan. 

 

  

                                                      
6
 Same stores – stores that were active in corresponding periods of the two comparison years. 

7
 The areas of the new branches are calculated proportionately from the date the branch was opened. The area of the branch 

is the gross area including selling areas and other operating areas. 
8
 The comparative data for 2014 and 2013 were reclassified so as to reflect the credit card customers’ club management 

segment. 
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Selling, marketing, administrative and general expenses amounted to NIS 2,695 million in 2014 compared 

with NIS 2,494 million in 2013. The ratio of expenses to revenues was 23.2% compared with 20.9% in 2013. 

The increase in expenses was mainly due to recording net non-recurring expenses for shutting down and 

reducing the size of branches and the implementation of a voluntary employee retirement plan as described in 

Note 1.B.(1) to the financial statements. 

 

The operating loss before other income in the retail segment amounted to NIS 171 million in 2014, a rate of 

1.5%, compared with a profit of NIS 297 million and a rate of 2.5% in 2013, a decrease of NIS 468 million that 

is due to the aforesaid. 

 

The operating profit before other income in the real estate segment amounted to NIS 148 million in 2014 

compared with NIS 153 million in 2013.  

 

The operating profit before other income in the credit card customers’ club management segment 
amounted to NIS 37 million in 2014 compared with NIS 32 million in 2013. 

 

The Company’s operating loss before other income amounted to NIS 47 million in 2014, a rate of 0.4%, 

compared with a profit of NIS 427 million and a rate of 3.6% in 2013, a decrease of NIS 474 million that is 

mainly due to the aforesaid.  

 

The Company’s operating loss after other income amounted to NIS 36 million in 2014, a rate of 0.3%, 

compared with a profit of NIS 438 million and a rate of 3.7% in 2013, a decrease of NIS 474 million that is 

mainly due to the aforesaid.  

 

The operating profit before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) amounted to NIS 344 million and a 

rate of 3% in 2014, compared with NIS 688 million and a rate of 5.8% in 2013. 

 

Financing expenses net, amounted to NIS 103 million and a rate of 0.9% in 2014, compared with NIS 159 

million and a rate of 1.3% in 2013. The decrease is mainly due to income that was recorded from reversal of 

impairment on a loan to an associate. 

 

Income from taxes amounted to NIS 32 million in 2014, compared with tax expenses of NIS 69 million in 

2013. The Company’s effective tax rate was 23% in 2014, compared with 25% in 2013.  

The change is mainly due to the transition to loss as a result of the aforesaid. 

 

The loss amounted to NIS 107 million in 2014 compared with a profit of NIS 210 million in 2013. 

 

The Company’s basic and diluted loss per share amounted to NIS 0.52 in 2014, compared with basic and 

diluted earnings per share of NIS 0.99 in 2013. 
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1.2.3 Analysis of the results for the three months ended December 31, 2015 compared with the 

corresponding period of the previous year 

 

 Results of operations 

 Q4 2015 Q4 2014 

 % NIS millions % NIS millions 

 

Revenues   2,923    2,810  

Gross profit 25.5%  746  22.8%  640  

Selling, marketing, administrative and      

 general expenses 22.4% (654) 21.2% (596) 

Operating profit before other income 3.1%                                                                                                       92  1.6%  44  

Other income   3    1  

Increase in value of investment property   4    14  

Operating profit after other income   99    59  

Financing expenses, net  (2)  (11) 

Profit before taxes on income   97    48  

Taxes on income  (20)  (6) 

Profit for the period   77   42  

 

Retail segment revenues amounted to NIS 2,911 million in Q4/2015, compared with NIS 2,798 million in the 

corresponding quarter of the previous year, an increase of about 4.0% 

Same store
9
 sales with respect to stores that operated fully in Q4/2015 and in the corresponding quarter of the 

previous year increased by 6.4%. The sales per square meter
10

 amounted to NIS 5,799 in Q4/2015, compared 

with NIS 5,260 in the corresponding quarter of the previous year, an increase of 10.2% that is mainly due to a 

reduction is selling areas and to changes in shopping cart components and in the mix of sales campaigns. 

 

Real estate segment revenues amounted to NIS 47 million in Q4/2015, compared with NIS 45 million in the 

corresponding quarter of the previous year. 

 

Revenues from the credit card customers’ club management segment
11

 amounted to NIS 17 million in 

Q4/2015, like in the corresponding quarter of the previous year. 

 

The Company’s revenues amounted to NIS 2,923 million in Q4/2015 compared with NIS 2,810 million in the 

corresponding quarter of the previous year, an increase of about 4.0%. 

 

The Company’s gross profit amounted to NIS 746 million in Q4/2015, compared with NIS 640 million in the 

corresponding quarter of the previous year, an increase of NIS 106 million. The gross profit rate was 25.5% in 

Q4/2015, compared with 22.8% in the corresponding quarter of the previous year. The increase in the amount of 

the gross profit and in its rate is mainly due to an improvement in trade terms, a change in the mix of the 

franchisers, an increase in the share of the private label and an increase in efficiency following implementation 

of the business plan. 

 

Selling, marketing, administrative and general expenses amounted to NIS 654 million in Q4/2015, compared 

with NIS 596 million in the corresponding quarter of the previous year. The ratio of expenses to revenues was 

22.4% compared with 21.2% in the corresponding quarter of the previous year. The increase in expenses was 

mainly due to an increase in payroll costs in the current quarter and to shutting down and reducing the size of 

branches.  

                                                      
9
 Same stores – stores that were active in corresponding periods of the two comparison years. 

10
 The areas of the new branches are calculated proportionately from the date the branch was opened. The area of the 

branch is the gross area including selling areas and additional operating areas.  
11

 The comparative data for 2014 were reclassified so as to reflect the credit card customers’ club management segment. 
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The operating profit before other income in the retail segment amounted to NIS 60 million in Q4/2015, a 

rate of 2.0%, compared with NIS 13 million and a rate of 0.5% in the corresponding quarter of the previous 

year, an increase of NIS 47 million that is due to the aforementioned. 

 

The operating profit before other income in the real estate segment amounted to NIS 38 million in Q4/2015, 

compared with NIS 37 million in the corresponding quarter of the previous year.   

 

The operating profit before other income in the credit card customers’ club management segment 
amounted to NIS 11 million in Q4/2015 compared with NIS 10 million in the corresponding quarter of the 

previous year. 

 

The Company’s operating profit after other income amounted to NIS 99 million and a rate of 3.4% in 

Q4/2015, compared with NIS 59 million and a rate of 2.1% in the corresponding quarter of the previous year, an 

increase of NIS 40 million that is due to the aforementioned.  

 

The operating profit before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) amounted to NIS 164 million and a 

rate of 5.6% in Q4/2015, compared with NIS 101 million and a rate of 3.6% in the corresponding quarter of the 

previous year. 

 

Financing expenses net, amounted to NIS 2 million in Q4/2015, compared with NIS 11 million in the 

corresponding quarter of the previous year. The decrease is mainly due to the CPI decreasing at a higher rate in 

Q4/2015 than in Q4/2014. Moreover, the financing expenses decreased following a decrease in the Company’s 

total debt. Conversely, there was a decrease in income that was recorded from reversal of impairment on a loan 

to an associate. 

 

Tax expenses amounted to NIS 20 million in Q4/2015, compared with NIS 6 million in the corresponding 

quarter of the previous year. The increase is mainly due to an improvement in profit before tax as a result of the 

aforesaid and a reversal of temporary differences for which no deferred taxes were created in the past. 

 

The profit for the period amounted to NIS 77 million in Q4/2015 compared with NIS 42 million in the 

corresponding quarter of the previous year. 

 

The Company’s basic and diluted earnings per share amounted to NIS 0.35 in Q4/2015, compared with 

NIS 0.20 in the corresponding quarter of the previous year. 
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1.2.4 Condensed consolidated income statement and consolidated statements of comprehensive income 

for 2015 by quarters and for the fourth quarter of 2014 (in NIS millions) 

 
 2015 2014 

 Total for Fourth Third Second First Fourth 

 the year quarter quarter quarter quarter quarter 

 
Revenues  11,505   2,923   2,988   2,758   2,836   2,810  

Gross profit  2,789   746   739   674   630   640  

Selling, marketing, administrative       

 and general expenses (2,515) (654) (657) (602) (602) (596) 

Operating profit before other        

 income  274   92   82   72   28   44  

Increase in fair value       

 and gain on sale of investment       

 property  9   4   5   -   -   14  

Other income  3   3   -   -   -   1  

Operating profit after other       

 income  286   99   87   72   28   59  

Financing expenses, net* (87) (2) (28) (50) (7) (11) 

Profit before taxes on income  199   97   59   22   21   48  
       

Taxes on income (46) (20) (12) (6) (8) (6) 
       

Profit for the period  153   77   47   16   13   42  
       

Components of other       

 comprehensive income (loss)       

Remeasurement of defined        

 benefit plan  9   -  (3)  28  (16)  8  

Revaluation reserve for fixed assets  -   -   -   -   -   6  

Taxes on items of other        

 comprehensive income that will not        

 be transferred to profit or loss (2)  -   1  (7)  4  (3) 

Other comprehensive income (loss)       

 for the period, net of tax  7   -  (2)  21  (12)  11  

Total comprehensive income       

 for the period  160   77   45   37   1   53  

Attributable to:       

The Company’s owners  157   74   45   37   1   50  

Non-controlling interests  3   3   -   -   -   3  

Total comprehensive income       

 for the period  160   77   45   37   1   53  

       

 

* The financial statements as at June 30, 2015 and September 30, 2015 included revenues from reversing 

impairment on a loan that was granted to an associate company in the amount of NIS 1 million and NIS 6 million, 

respectively, under the item “share of profits of equity accounted investees”. In the amounts presented above such 

revenues were reclassified to the item “financing expenses, net”. 
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1.3 Financial Position, Liquidity and Sources of Finance 
 

1.3.1 Cash flow – Analysis of the results for 2015 as compared to 2014 

 

Cash flow from operating activities 

 

Net cash from operating activities amounted to NIS 947 million in 2015, compared with NIS 330 million in the 

previous year. The increase in cash flow from operating activities is mainly due to the increase in profit and the 

changes in working capital items. 

 

Cash flow from investing activities 

 

Net cash from investing activities amounted to NIS 12 million in 2015, compared with net cash used in 

investing activities of NIS 246 million in the previous year.  

The cash from investing activities in 2015 included mainly the sale of marketable securities, net, in the amount 

of NIS 645 million and on the other hand investments in fixed assets in the amount of NIS 384 million and 

investment in a short-term deposit in the amount of NIS 270 million.  

The cash used in investing activities in 2014 included mainly investments in fixed assets in the amount of 

NIS 418 million and on the other hand sale of marketable securities, net, in the amount of NIS 112 million and 

withdrawal of a short-term deposit in the amount of NIS 40 million. 

 

Cash flow used in financing activities 

 

Net cash used in financing activities amounted to NIS 454 million in 2015, compared with NIS 426 million in 

the previous year. 

The net cash used in financing activities in 2015 included mainly repayment of debentures and interest in the 

amount of NIS 750 million and on the other hand issuance of debentures for a consideration of NIS 313 million 

(net). 

The net cash used in financing activities in 2014 included mainly repayment of debentures and interest in the 

amount of NIS 342 million and payment of a dividend in the amount of NIS 70 million. 

 

1.3.2 Cash flow – Analysis of the results for 2014 as compared to 2013 

 

Cash flow from operating activities 

 

Net cash from operating activities amounted to NIS 330 million in 2014, compared with NIS 630 million in 

2013. The decrease is mainly due to the decrease in profit compared with 2013. 

 

Cash flow used in investing activities 

 

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to NIS 246 million in 2014, compared with NIS 802 million in 

2013. The cash used in investing activities in 2014 included mainly investments in fixed assets in the amount of 

NIS 418 million and on the other hand sale of marketable securities, net, in the amount of NIS 112 million and 

withdrawal of a short-term deposit in the amount of NIS 40 million. 

The cash used in investing activities in 2013 included mainly investments in fixed assets in the amount of 

NIS 310 million, acquisition of marketable securities, net, in the amount of NIS 432 million and investment in a 

short-term deposit in the amount of NIS 40 million.  

 

Cash flow used in financing activities 

 

Net cash used in financing activities amounted to NIS 426 million in 2014, compared with net cash from 

financing activities of NIS 405 million in 2013. 
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The net cash used in financing activities in 2014 included mainly repayment of debentures and interest in the 

amount of NIS 342 million and payment of a dividend in the amount of NIS 70 million. 

The net cash from financing activities in 2013 included mainly issuance of debentures in the amount of NIS 911 

million and on the other hand repayment of debentures and interest in the amount of NIS 253 million and 

payment of a dividend in the amount of NIS 250 million. 

 

1.3.3 Balances of liquid assets and financial ratios 
 

As at the end of 2015 the Company’s consolidated net liquid assets (cash and cash equivalents, short-term 

deposits and marketable securities) amounted to NIS 1,026 million, compared with NIS 896 million as at the 

end of 2014. The increase in net liquid assets is mainly due to proceeds that were received from the issuance of 

debentures in the third quarter of the year and to a change in the items of working capital, and on the other hand 

repayments of debentures in the first quarter of the year. 
 

As at the end of 2015, the Company’s liabilities to banks and for debentures, including interest payable 

(hereinafter – “the Financial Debt”) amounted to NIS 3,129 million, compared with NIS 3,456 million as at the 

end of 2014. 
 

The ratio of liabilities to banks and debentures to total assets is 43.3% as at the end of 2015, compared with 

49.3% as at the end of 2014. 
 

As at the end of 2015 the Company’s balances of trade payables amounted to NIS 1,814 million, compared with 

NIS 1,542 million as at the end of 2014 (ranging between NIS 1.3 billion and NIS 1.9 billion throughout 2015). 

 

As at the end of 2015, the Company’s net debt (the financial debt net of cash and cash equivalents, short-term 

deposits and marketable securities) amounted to NIS 2,103 million, compared with NIS 2,560 million as at the 

end of 2014.  
 

As at the end of 2015 the Company’s total equity was NIS 1,170 million, compared with NIS 1,009 million as at 

the end of 2014. 
 

The ratio of the Company’s equity to its total assets is 16% in 2015, compared with 14% as at the end of 2014. 

 

1.3.4 Board of Directors’ discussion of the Company’s liquidity in view of the working capital deficit as 

at December 31, 2015 

 

As at December 31, 2015 the Group has a working capital deficit (on a consolidated basis) in the amount of 

NIS 348 million, compared with positive working capital of NIS 84 million as at December 31, 2014, and it has 

a working capital deficit (on a stand-alone basis) of NIS 253 million compared with working capital of nil as at 

December 31, 2014. The working capital deficit as at December 31, 2015 is mainly due to a decrease in the 

Company’s cash balances following the redemption of debentures and interest payments in the amount of 

NIS 750 million that were paid during the year (whereas in the third quarter the Company issued debentures in 

the amount of NIS 317 million (gross)) and as a result of transferring a liability to acquire the partners’ share of 

the partnership Shufersal Finance in the amount of NIS 133 million from long-term liabilities to current 

liabilities. It is noted that the Company concluded the year with a positive cash flow from operating activities. 

 

As stated in the Company’s previous reports (see Paragraph 1.3.4 of the Board of Directors’ report as at 

September 30, 2015 and Paragraph 13.3 of the shelf registration statement the Company published on 

September 3, 2015), the repayment structure of the Company’s Series B, C, D and E debentures, and mainly the 

Company’s Series B and C debentures, creates a high burden of future payments between the years 2016 and 

2019 (inclusive), as in those years the Company is expected to repay an average amount of debentures of NIS 

630 million each year (principal and interest, not including linkage differences). It is noted that the Company 

has an insignificant amount of bank financing. 
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On August 4, 2015 the Company’s Board of Directors approved a plan for dealing with those payments (“the 

plan”) by which the Company would issue debentures each year, in the years 2016 through 2019 (inclusive) or 

proximate to them, in an amount close to the amount of the payment required in that year in respect of those 

series of debentures or at least a significant part of it, which have a long average duration (in other words – issue 

long-term debentures with principal payments beginning only after 2019). In the third quarter the Company 

began executing the aforesaid plan and issued to the public a new series of debentures (Series F) in an amount of 

NIS 317 million (gross) with a long average duration of 7.5, with principal payments beginning only in 2020 

(until 2028). The Series F issuance will serve to finance (together with the Company’s own resources and/or 

other debt raising) the Company’s payments in 2016 in an amount of NIS 726 million in respect of the 

outstanding Series B, C, D and E debentures (the aforesaid amount reflects the principal, interest and linkage 

differences accrued until the date of this report). It is noted that the current interest payments of Series F will be 

made out of the Company’s own resources.  

 

In view of the aforesaid plan, and taking into account the Company’s accessibility to additional sources of credit 

and financing (as aforesaid), and in view of the Group’s balances of cash and cash equivalents and the Group’s 

cash flow forecast for the two year period beginning December 31, 2015, the Board of Directors decided that 

notwithstanding the working capital deficit as at December 31, 2015 the Company does not have a liquidity 

problem. 

The assessment of the Company’s accessibility to sources of credit (including issuing debentures as part of the 

plan) and the assessment of the Company’s accessibility to possible additional sources of financing, took note of 

the yield to maturity at which the Company’s debentures are traded, the Company’s rating, the Company’s 

ability to realize real estate and the fact that the Company and its subsidiaries own unencumbered real estate. It 

is noted that as at the date of the report, there is only a small number of liens of an insignificant amount on the 

assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, and the Company does not have any commitments to not create 

pledges on its assets other than the Company’s commitment in the trust deeds of the Series D, E and F 

debentures to not create a current pledge with respect to its assets without obtaining the consent of the holders of 

the debentures from those series. 

It is also noted that as at the date of the report, and according to the Company’s assessment, the cash flow that 

will be generated for the Company from operating activities in the forthcoming years will meet the Company’s 

operating activity requirements and investment needs. 

 

It is emphasized that there is no certainty that the Company’s business plan of issuing debentures as 

aforesaid will be completed or that it will be completed in the manner described above. Furthermore, the 

timing of the issuances, their structure, scope and terms will be subject to all the approvals required by 

law, including the approval of the Company’s Board of Directors. It is further emphasized that the 

information on the Company’s sources of financing and revenue as provided in the above paragraph, 

including the Company’s ability to raise debt, is forward-looking information, within its meaning in the 

Securities Law – 1968, and is mainly based on the Company’s forecasts. This assessment may not be 

realized or may be realized in a different manner than was assessed, including materially different, as a 

result of market behavior and realization of the risk factors mentioned in Paragraph 15 of Chapter A to 

the Company’s periodic report for 2015. 

 

 

2. Market Risk Exposure and Management 
 

2.1 Company officer responsible for market risk management 
 

In the reporting period (until October 11, 2015) the person who was in charge of the management of market 

risks in the Company was the Deputy CEO and Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Shlomo Zohar. As from October 

11, 2015, the Company’s CFO, Ms. Talya Huber, is responsible for the management of market risks in the 

Company. See Regulation 26A of Part D of the periodic report (additional information on the corporation) for 

details regarding her education, skills and professional experience. 
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2.2 Supervision over market risk management policy and its implementation 
 

The Company closely follows developments in interest rates, in the Consumer Price Index and in the yield to 

maturity of debentures. 

The Investments Committee of the Board is in charge of financial exposures, surplus cash management, 

formation of hedge strategies, supervision of performance and providing immediate response to unusual 

developments in the various markets. Other relevant persons also participate in the meetings of the Committee. 

The Committee is assisted by capital market consultants as necessary. The Committee meets at least once a 

quarter and whenever required. For further details see Note 23 to the financial statements regarding management 

of financial risks. 

 

2.3 Description of market risks 
 

Market risks comprise the changes in the value of financial instruments caused by fluctuations in interest rates, 

the Consumer Price Index, foreign currency exchange rates and prices of securities. 

In 2015 most of the Company’s exposure was to changes in the CPI. The Company also has an insignificant 

exposure to changes in the exchange rates of the dollar and euro. 

For further details see Section 2.6 hereunder regarding sensitivity tests for sensitive instruments, according to 

changes in market factors as at December 31, 2015. 

 

Debentures and loan from banks 

 

Presented hereunder is a breakdown of repayments of debentures by principal and interest, and of bank loans 

based on repayment years (in NIS millions): 

 

Year Principal* Interest* Bank loans Total 

2016  591 147 3 741 

2017  591 115 2 708 

2018  477 85 0 562 

2019  477 61 0 538 

2020 93 37 0 130 

2021 93 33 0 126 

2022 93 29 0 122 

2023 93 25 0 118 

2024 93 21 0 114 

2025 93 18 0 111 

2026 93 14 0 107 

2027 93 10 0 103 

2028 93 6 0 99 

2029 93 2 0 60 

Total 3,031 603  5  3,639 

 

* Repayment of debentures (principal + interest) is not capitalized according to a “Spitzer” payment 

table – part is linked to the Consumer Price Index and part is unlinked. 

 

Investments in securities 

 

The securities portfolio of the Company includes short-term loans (MAKAM), deposits, government debentures 

and corporate debentures rated at least "A" and at least "A2" by Maalot and Midroog Ltd., respectively 
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Investments in investment property 

 

As at December 31, 2015, the Group has investment property in the amount of NIS 468 million. A yield rate of 

between 7.5% and 12% before tax was taken into consideration in the calculation of the value of the investment 

property. This rate takes into account the risk based on the different periods of the lease agreements and the 

quality of the tenants. The Group leases out investment property to a large number of lessees, regarding most of 

which there were no material changes in the lease agreements. 

In the reporting period the change in the fair value of investment property amounted to an increase of NIS 9 

million, which is mainly due to the realization of building rights, progress in projects under construction, real 

estate improvements, the signing of new agreements, an improvement in revenues and a cutback in the operating 

costs of the properties. The change in fair value was recognized in the statement of income under increase in fair 

value of investment property, net. 

In addition, the Group has investment property that the Company uses for purposes of its retail segment activity, 

which its fair value is NIS 1,734 million as at December 31, 2015, and is classified in the Company’s financial 

statements as fixed assets (and therefore is not presented at its fair value). 

 

The Group will continue to monitor developments on the financial markets and their effects on the Israeli 

economy, and it is possible that the developments will lead to a change in the value of the Company’s securities 

portfolio and the value of its investment property. 

 

2.3.1 Consumer Price Index risks 

 

The Company is exposed to changes in the Consumer Price Index (“the CPI”) mainly in respect of CPI-linked 

debentures issued by the Company that amount to NIS 2.5 billion as at December 31, 2015, and in respect of 

CPI-linked payments in the annual amount of NIS 385 million. 

 

2.3.2 Foreign currency risks  

 

The Company’s policy is to hedge the currency exchange rates in respect of import of goods from outside of 

Israel. 

As at December 31, 2015, the Company has forward contracts on the rate of the dollar in the amount of US$ 7.9 

million for settlement until July 2016 and forward contracts on the rate of the euro in the amount of € 4.1 

million for settlement until April 2016. 

 

In 2015 the Company incurred financing expenses in the amount of NIS 5 million in respect of those contracts. 

In 2014 the financing income was insignificant. 

The Company’s exposure to currency risks is insignificant.  

 

2.3.3 Interest risks 

 

The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates on a small portion of the Company’s total debt, and on its 

short-term investments and deposits. 

 

2.3.4 Israeli capital market risks 

 

The Company is exposed to changes in prices of securities in Israel since part of the Company’s monetary 

balances is invested in government debentures and in corporate debentures that are linked to the Israeli CPI, and 

in corporate debentures bearing a fixed shekel interest rate that are rated at least "A" and at least "A2" by Maalot 

and Midroog Ltd., respectively. In the reporting period the Company sold most of its securities portfolio and 

therefore this exposure is insignificant as at the date of the statement of financial position.  
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2.4 Company policy regarding market risk management 
 

The Company invests its surplus liquidity with a view of obtaining a fair return while maintaining an 

appropriate return/risk balance.  

In 2015, the Company made use of derivative financial instruments with a view of matching, to the extent 

possible, the linkage bases of its financial assets and liabilities (hedge transactions). The Company examines on 

a regular basis the need to acquire hedges in order to deal with its economic exposures. The Company does not 

invest in entities that primarily engage in derivatives and short selling. 

 

2.5 Linkage bases report 
 

See Note 24.C to the financial statements for details on the Company’s linkage bases report as at December 31, 

2015. 
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2.6 Sensitivity tests 
 

Sensitivity tests for sensitive instruments, according to changes in market factors as at December 31, 2015 

 
 Interest rate sensitivity 

  Gain (loss) from changes  Gain (loss) from changes 

 Market 10% 5% 2% Fair value 2% 5% 10% 

 interest increase increase increase as at decrease decrease decrease 

 rate at in in in December in in in 

 reporting interest interest interest 31, 2015 interest interest interest 

Sensitive instruments date NIS millions 

   

Loans received   0.0  0.0 0.1  5  (0.1) (0.0) (0.0) 

Total debentures   32.3  16.3 195.9  3,248  (228.1) (16.5) (33.5) 

2005 issuance Series B 2.06%  1.8  0.9 17.0  537  (18.2) (0.9) (1.8) 

2005 issuance Series B 2.06%  1.0  0.5 9.5  301  (10.1) (0.5) (1.0) 

2006 issuance Series B 2.06%  0.7  0.3 6.2  198  (6.7) (0.3) (0.7) 

2007 issuance Series B 2.06%  1.6  0.8 14.8  468  (15.8) (0.8) (1.6) 

2009 issuance Series C 0.97%  0.1  0.0 1.5  134  (1.6) (0.0) (0.1) 

2010 issuance Series B 2.06%  1.1  0.6 10.4  329  (11.1) (0.6) (1.1) 

2010 issuance Series C 0.97%  0.1  0.0 1.2  110  (1.3) (0.0) (0.1) 

2013 issuance Series D 3.10%  7.8  3.9 46.7  413  (56.3) (3.9) (7.8) 

2013 issuance Series E 3.91%  9.5  4.8 45.4  424  (54.6) (4.8) (9.5) 

2015 issuance of F 3.74%  8.7  4.4 43.2  334  (52.2) (4.4) (8.7) 

Loans granted   0.0  0.0 0.0 (1) 0.0  0.0  0.0  

Deposits  (0.1) (0.0) (1.56) 938  1.57  0.0  0.1  

 

 
 CPI sensitivity 

  Gain (loss) from changes Fair value Gain (loss) from changes 

  10% 5% as at 5% 10% 

 Base increase increase December decrease decrease 

Sensitive instruments index in CPI in CPI 31, 2015 in CPI in CPI 

  NIS millions 

 

Bank loans received 88.8 (0.5) (0.3) 5 0.3 0.5 

Debentures 74.0 (257.9) (128.9) 2,580 128.9 257.9 

 

 
 Market price sensitivity 

 Gain from changes Fair value as at Loss from changes 

 10% increase 5% increase December 31, 5% decrease 10% decrease 

Sensitive instruments in market price in market price 2015 in market price in market price 

 NIS millions 

 

Marketable securities 1.0 0.5 10 (0.5) (1.0) 
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3. Corporate Governance 
 

3.1 The work of the Board of Directors and its committees 
 

Enforcement plan and procedures in the area of securities 

On February 5, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted, after approval thereof by the Audit 

Committee, an internal enforcement plan in the area of securities laws (that is, the provisions of the 

Securities Law and the Regulations promulgated thereunder, along with related laws), the purpose of 

which is to verify and enforce compliance by the Company, its officers and employees with the 

requirements of law in the area of securities, including on the basis of procedures that were adopted by 

the Company, and/or that it will adopt, from time to time, in this area. The plan provides arrangements, 

among other things, related to the manner of assimilating procedures in the Company, existence of 

supervision and reporting mechanisms, and ways of handling and reaching conclusions in connection 

with breakdowns (if any are found). The plan was formulated on the basis of the Company’s unique 

characteristics and working environment, based on a compliance survey in the area of securities and 

criteria for an efficient enforcement plan that were published by the Securities Authority. 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors appointed Mr. Eran Meiri, the Company’s General Counsel, as the 

person responsible for enforcement in the Company. The job of the person responsible for enforcement 

is to ascertain (by himself or through other position holders in the Company) that the enforcement plan 

is efficiently and effectively executed, including by means of monitoring, and holding training sessions 

and assimilations, as well as by updating Company management regarding operation of the plan and 

special events. As part of the enforcement plan, procedures were adopted that among other things relate 

to the manner of issuing immediate reports, to the identification, approval and reporting of transactions 

that raise concerns regarding a personal interest of officers or controlling shareholders, benchmarks for 

classifying transactions and activities as non-extraordinary transactions, a procedure for classifying 

transactions as insignificant transactions, a competitive process procedure, a procedure regarding 

prohibition of use and transfer of inside information, a policy for preventing fraud and manipulation, 

and others. The procedures provide rules of action and conduct along with work processes the goal of 

which is to provide a response to and controls over central processes with respect to matters arranged in 

the framework thereof. The plan and procedures were assimilated in 2013. 

In 2015, along with the current execution of the enforcement plan, the Company held two updating and 

internal examination processes. The first was a test that the target population of the plan is familiar with 

the plan and the people who are responsible for its execution. The second process comprised an 

examination and update of the plan’s instructions, taking into consideration amendments to the law and 

the Securities Authority’s opinions and developments in the Company’s activity. 

 

For details on the Company’s procedures regarding extraordinary transactions, insignificant transactions 

and competitive process see Regulation 22 of Part D (Additional Details on the Corporation) of the 

periodic report. 

 

Meetings of the Board of Directors 

 

In 2015, the Board of Directors held 14 meetings. The committees of the Board of Directors held 

additional meetings. 
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3.2 Directors with accounting and financial skills 
 

After evaluating the education, experience, qualifications and knowledge of the members of the Board of 

Directors relating to business/accounting matters and to financial statements, the members of the Board 

considered by the Board as having accounting and financial expertise are: Messrs. Ron Hadasi, Michael 

Bar Haim, Ami Erel, Ronen Zadok, Isaac Idan, Tsvi Ben Porat, Gideon Schurr, Aharon Adler and Eldad 

Mizrahi (for details with respect to the experience and education of the said directors, see Regulation 26 in 

Part D (Additional Details on the Corporation) of the Company’s periodic report). 

 

For details regarding the minimum number of directors with accounting and financial expertise that is 

appropriate for the Company, see the corporate governance questionnaire that is attached in Part E of the 

periodic report.  

 

3.3 Process of approval of the financial statements  
 

For details regarding the process of approval of the Company’s financial statements, see the corporate 

governance questionnaire that is attached in Part E of the periodic report.  

 

3.4 Disclosure regarding the internal auditor of the Company 
 

Particulars of the internal auditor 

 

1. The Company’s internal auditor - Levi Steinbaum. 

 

2. First date of service: October 1, 1997. 

 

3. The internal auditor complies with the conditions provided in Section 3(a) of the Internal Audit Law – 

1992 (hereinafter – “the Internal Audit Law”). 

 

4. The internal auditor complies with the provisions of Section 146(b) of the Companies Law and the 

provisions of Section 8 of the Internal Audit Law. 

 

5. The internal auditor is not an interested party of the Company and is not related to an interested party or 

an officer of the Company, and does not serve as the Company’s external auditor or on its behalf. The 

internal auditor does not fill any other position in the Company besides internal auditor. In addition the 

internal auditor does not hold any securities of the Company. 

 

6. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, other than the employment of the internal auditor and his staff 

as described hereunder, the internal auditor and his staff do not have material business connections or 

any other material connections with the Company or a related party of the Company. 

 

7. The internal auditor is an employee of the Company and serves as a senior officer in accordance with 

the law. 

 

Appointment of the internal auditor 

 

The internal auditor was appointed to his position at the Board of Directors’ meeting on August 10, 1997 

according to the provisions of the Internal Audit Law. The internal auditor is a CPA, holds a B.A. in economics, 

statistics and accounting and is an International Certified Internal Auditor (CIA) since 1994. It was determined 

that the internal auditor would act according to the provisions of the Law to perform an internal audit in 

Shufersal, taking note of, inter alia, its size, its volume of activity and the complexity of its activity. 
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Identity of the organizational function in charge of the internal auditor 

 

The internal auditor reports to the Joint Chairmen of the Board of Directors. 

 

The work plan and the considerations it is based on 

 

The annual work plan is submitted by the Internal Auditor and is approved by the Company’s Audit Committee. 

 

The work plan for 2016 has been derived from the multi-year work plan for 2016-2019 (inclusive). In 2013 a 

risks’ survey was performed in the Company for management of the Company. The matters that arose in the 

risks’ survey constituted a basis for preparing the multi-year work plan. The annual work plan for 2016 was 

updated according to the matters that arose in the risk assessment survey that the Company’s internal auditor 

performs every year with senior executives of the Company including the CEO, with the participation of the 

Company’s independent auditors. In the Audit Committee’s meeting on December 22, 2015, the work plan and 

the necessary audit resources were presented by the Internal Auditor to the Audit Committee of the Board. The 

Audit Committee approved the work plan subject to changes it considered fit to include, in accordance with 

Section 7 of the Internal Audit Law. 

The Internal Auditor has discretion to deviate from the determined work plan subject to approval of the Audit 

Committee. The work plan is presented once a year to the Audit Committee. 

 

The work plan includes: coverage of all important issues in all units of the Company, putting special emphasis 

on subjects that had been examined in the past and found to be highly exposed to risk, providing a response to 

items brought up in risks’ surveys that were performed in the Company and performance of an audit in fixed 

areas at reasonable intervals (once a year for important and material issues and once every three to four years for 

other matters). 

 

During the reporting period, the Internal Auditor examined the manner of approval of certain material 

transactions (as defined in Section 5(f) to the fourth addendum to the reporting regulations) and examined 

non-extraordinary transactions with interested parties. The Internal Auditor was invited and was present at all 

the meetings of the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee, including meetings at which material 

transactions were discussed. 

 

Audit of material investee companies of the Company 

 

The internal audit plan includes audits of wholly owned investees of the Company and of Shufersal Finance 

partnership. 

 

Manner and scope of employment of the Internal Auditor and his staff and their remuneration 
 

In 2015, the Company employed a staff of four full time employees (including the Internal Auditor) engaged in 

internal audit (hereinafter – "the internal audit department") and was also assisted by external parties for 

purposes of implementation of the work plan. In 2015 the internal audit department engaged external 

consultants to work on the issues of information security, backups, payments to suppliers, labor laws and 

revenue assurance. 

 

Number of hours invested in the 

internal audit of the Company in 

2015 

Number of hours invested in the 

internal audit of investee 

companies in 2015 

Number of hours invested by 

external consultants in 2015 

7,400 600 800 
 

 

The work plan derives from a multi-year plan, and in the opinion of the Company’s Board of Directors the 

number of hours provides a response to this plan and includes reference to the risks’ surveys performed in the 

Company. 
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Professional standards according to which the Internal Auditor performs the audit 

 

According to information provided to management of the Company by the Internal Auditor, the internal audit is 

performed according to generally accepted professional internal auditing standards, professional guidelines and 

instructions approved and published by the Institute of Internal Auditors in Israel and according to the Internal 

Audit Law. The Board of Directors relied upon the reports of the Internal Auditor with respect to his compliance 

with the requirements of the said professional standards, according to which he performs the audit. In 2015 an 

internal audit quality assessment was performed by an external company which concluded that the internal audit 

in Shufersal generally complies with the guidelines of the international Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA). 

 

Access to information 

 

Documents and information in the possession of the Company have been provided to the Internal Auditor for 

performance of his duty, as stated in Section 9 of the Internal Audit Law. Furthermore, free, constant and direct 

access to the information systems of the Company and of its principal investees, including the financial data, is 

provided to the Internal Auditor for performance of his work. The information systems of Shufersal serve also 

its investee companies, and the Internal Auditor is authorized to inspect all data managed by the information 

systems including that of the principal investees. 

 

Report of the Internal Auditor 

 

Reports on the findings of the Internal Auditor are submitted regularly in writing to the joint Chairmen of the 

Board, to the Chairman of the Audit Committee, to the members of the Audit Committee, to the CEO and to the 

Company’s independent auditors. In 2015, the Audit Committee met to discuss the internal audit reports 

submitted for this year (about 22 reports) on the following dates: January 20, February 9, May 7, July 30, 

September 7, October 29 and December 22. 

 

Board of Directors' assessment of the internal auditor's activities 

 

According to the Board of Director's assessment, the scope, nature and continuity of the internal auditor’s 

activities and work plan are reasonable in the circumstances and should achieve the Company’s internal audit 

goals. 

 

Remuneration of the internal auditor 

 

The remuneration costs of the Internal Auditor for 2015 was NIS 11,013 thousand.  

 

The total remuneration paid in 2015 to the staff of the internal audit department (excluding the Internal Auditor 

himself) amounted to NIS 1,318 thousand. 

The remuneration to the Internal Auditor and to the staff of the internal audit department is not dependent on the 

results of the audit work. Accordingly, the Board of Directors believes that this matter has no effect upon the 

professional judgment of the Internal Auditor and on the results of the audit. 
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3.5 Disclosure regarding the fees of the independent auditors 
 

The independent auditors of the Company and of companies material to the Company and to subsidiaries for the 

years 2015 and 2014 are KPMG Somekh Chaikin, CPAs. 

 

Presented hereunder is the overall fee of the Company and the subsidiaries’ auditors in 2015 and 2014: 

 
 2015 2014 

 NIS thousands Hours NIS thousands Hours 

 

Auditing and tax services to the Company*  1,067   6,651   1,078   6,033  

Auditing and tax services to subsidiaries*  182   1,158   182   1,188  

Other services to the Company  316   983   355   1,085  

     

Total  1,565   8,792   1,615   8,306  

 

* The tax services received by the Company from the independent auditors are immaterial compared with the 

audit services. 

 

In negotiations held between the auditors and the highest ranking financial officer a fixed amount was set for the 

fee payable to the auditors for auditing services in 2015 (a global amount and not an hourly rate as in past 

practice). The fee was determined with reference to the number of audit hours expected for the current year, and 

was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors after receiving the recommendations of the Audit 

Committee. Regarding non-audit work, the fee was determined separately according to the amount of work 

required. 

 

3.6 Adequacy of compensation to officers listed in Regulation 21 of Part D of the periodic 

report 
 

On December 14, 2015 the Company’s general shareholders’ meeting approved (after receiving the approval of 

the Company’s compensation committee and Board of Directors) an amendment to the Company’s 

compensation policy and extended its effect until the end of 2016. For details regarding the Company’s up-to-

date compensation policy, see the Company’s supplemental immediate report dated November 7, 2015 (ref. no. 

2015-01-174744) (“the compensation policy”). The Company’s Board of Directors checked and found that the 

salary components paid to the Company’s officers and interested parties detailed in Regulation 21 of Part D 

(Additional Information on the Entity) comply with the compensation policy.  

 

3.7 Contribution to the community 
 

A. Donation of funds or products in 2015 

 

Shufersal views itself as committed to active and ongoing involvement in contribution to the community. 

 

Within the framework of contributing to the community, Shufersal gives preference to donations of aid to 

underprivileged populations in Israel. Accordingly, at every holiday Shufersal distributes food parcels to 

thousands of families and children countrywide. 

 

The total contributions in cash and products, including parcels to the needy, amounted to about NIS 4.6 million 

in 2015. 
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B. Contribution activities in 2015 
 

As part of Shufersal’s contribution to the community, the Company, among other things, conducts fundraising 

campaigns involving customers at the cash counters of stores all over the country. Each fundraising campaign 

relates to a specific association and the funds raised are transferred to that association for its current operations 

in health, education, welfare and other fields. 

 

As part of the overall contribution activities, cash or cash equivalent (foodstuffs) in the amount of about NIS 12 

million was donated to the various societies and organizations. 

 

 

4. Disclosure Directives Pertaining to the Financial Reporting of the Company 
 

4.1 Disclosure regarding events subsequent to the date of the statement of financial position 
 

• For details regarding provisions for claims and legal proceedings subsequent to the date of the 

Company’s statement of financial position as at December 31, 2015, see Note 15(2) to the 

financial statements. 

• For details regarding events subsequent to the date of the Company’s statement of financial 

position as at December 31, 2015, see Note 34 to the financial statements.  
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5. Specific disclosure for holders of Company debentures 
 

Data as at December 31, 2015 
 

Series Date of 

issuance 

Par value 

on date of 

issuance 

(NIS 

millions) 

Proceeds 

on date of 

issuance 

net of 

issuance 

expenses 

(NIS 

millions) 

Carrying 

amount (NIS 

millions)* 

Balance of 

par value 

(NIS 

millions) 

Balance of 

par value, 

including 

linkage (NIS 

millions) 

Accumulated 

interest 

(NIS millions) 

Stock 

market/fair 

value (NIS 

millions) 

Type of 

interest 

Effective 

interest 

rate on 

date of 

issuance 

Stated 

interest 

Payment date of 

principal 

Interest payment 

dates 

Type of 

linkage 

            First 

date 

Last 

date 

  

Series B April 
2005 

500 498 511 400 492 19 537 Fixed 5.24% 5.2% March 
31, 

2015 

March 
31, 

2019 

Annual interest 
on Mar. 31 of 

each year 

between 2006 
and 2019 

CPI 

                

 Nov. 
2005 

280 299 286 224 275 11 301 Fixed 5.02% 5.2% March 
31, 

2015 

March 
31, 

2019 

Annual interest 
on  Mar. 31 of 

each year 

between 2006 
and 2019 

CPI 

                

 March 
2006 

184 200 188 147 181 7 198 Fixed 5.02% 5.2% March 
31, 

2015 

March 
31, 

2019 

Annual interest 
on Mar. 31 of 

each year 

between 2006 
and 2019 

CPI 

                

 Feb. 2007 436 499 451 349 429 17 468 Fixed 4.3% 5.2% March 

31, 
2015 

March 

31, 
2019 

Annual interest 

on Mar. 31 of 
each year 

between 2007 

and 2019 

CPI 

                

 Dec. 2010 306 421 325 245 301 12 329 Fixed 2.81% 5.2% March 

31, 
2015 

March 

31, 
2019 

Annual interest 

on Mar. 31 of 
each year 

between 2011 

and 2019 

CPI 

  



Board of Directors' Report on the State of the Company's Affairs for the Year Ended December 31, 2015 

 

Shufersal Ltd. 

 

 27 

Series Date of 

issuance 

Par value 

on date of 

issuance 

(NIS 

millions) 

Proceeds on 

date of 

issuance net 

of issuance 

expenses 

(NIS 

millions) 

Carrying 

amount (NIS 

millions)* 

Balance of 

par value 

(NIS 

millions) 

Balance of 

par value, 

including 

linkage (NIS 

millions) 

Accumulated 

interest 

(NIS millions) 

Stock 

market/fair 

value (NIS 

millions) 

Type of 

interest 

Effective 

interest 

rate on 

date of 

issuance 

Stated 

interest 

Payment date of 

principal 

Interest 

payment dates 

Type of 

linkage 

            First 

date 

Last 

date 

  

Series C Aug. 2009 500 496 131 125 125 6 134 Fixed 5.68% 5.45% Feb. 3, 

2010 

Feb. 3, 

2017 

Annual 

interest on 

Feb. 3 of each 
year between 

2010 and 

2017 

Unlinked 

                

 Dec. 2010 358 382 108 102 102 5 110 Fixed 4.82% 5.45% Feb. 3, 

2011 

Feb. 3, 

2017 

Annual 

interest on 

Feb. 3 of each 
year between 

2011 and 

2017 

Unlinked 

                

Series D Oct. 2013 472 468 413 413 413 3 413 Fixed 3.12% 2.99% Oct. 8, 

2014 

Oct. 8, 

2029 

Annual 

interest on 
Oct. 8 of each 

year between 

2014 and 
2029 

CPI 

                

Series E Oct. 2013 448 444 393 392 392 4 424 Fixed 5.23% 5.09% Oct. 8, 

2014 

Oct. 8, 

2029 

Annual 

interest on 
Oct. 8 of each 

year between 

2014 and 

2029 

Unlinked 

Series F Sep. 2015 317 313 318 317 317 4 334 Fixed 4.44% 4.3% Oct. 8, 

2020 

Oct. 8, 

2028 

Annual 

interest on 
Oct. 8 of each 

year between 

2016 and 
2028 

CPI 

Total  3,801 4,020  3,124   2,714   3,027   88   3,248         

 

* Carrying amount – The carrying amount of the principal plus interest discounted according to the effective interest rate on the date of issuance and linked to the 

CPI at the reporting date (Series C and Series E debentures are not linked to the CPI). 
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Notes: 

 

1. The principal payments of the debentures are annual. 
 

2. The trustee of the Series B debentures is Hermetic Trust (1975) Ltd., from 113 Hayarkon St., Tel Aviv 

(tel. 03-5274867, fax. 03-5271736). The contact person at the trustee for the Series B debentures is Mr. 

Dan Avnon, Adv., e-mail: hermetic@hermetic.co.il  

 The trustee of the Series C debentures is Strauss Lazar Trust Company (1992) Ltd., from 17 Yitzhak 

Sadeh St., Tel Aviv (tel. 03-6237777, fax. 03-5613824). The contact person at the trustee for the Series 

C debentures is Mr. Ori Lazer, CPA and Adv., e-mail: ori@slcpa.co.il  

The trustee of the Series D debentures and Series E debentures is Reznik Paz Nevo Trustees Ltd., from 

14 Yad Haroutzim St. Tel-Aviv (tel. 03-6389200, fax. 03-6389222). The contact person at the trustee 

for the Series D debentures and Series E debentures is Mr. Yossi Reznik, CPA, e-mail: Trust@rpn.co.il 

The trustee of the Series F debentures is Strauss Lazar Trust Company (1992) Ltd., from 17 Yitzhak 

Sadeh St., Tel Aviv (tel. 03-6237777, fax. 03-5613824). The contact person at the trustee for the Series 

F debentures is Mr. Ori Lazer, CPA and Adv., e-mail: ori@slcpa.co.il 
 

3. In 2015 and up to the date of this report, the Company is in compliance with all the conditions and 

liabilities under the trust deeds of the outstanding debentures and there is no cause for demanding 

immediate repayment of the Company’s outstanding debentures. 
 

4. All the Company’s outstanding series of debentures, as detailed in the table above, are material. All the 

series of debentures are listed for trade on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. 
 

5. Among the causes for immediate repayment of the Series B debentures is also the event of another 

series of the Company’s debentures being called for immediate repayment, all according to the terms 

provided in the trust deed. The Series C debentures do not include a similar cause. Among the causes 

for immediate repayment of the Series D and E debentures is also the event of another debt of the 

Company to a bank and/or other financial institution (other than a debt that is non-recourse to the 

Company) being called for immediate repayment, providing that the total amount called for immediate 

repayment is higher than NIS 300 million, or another outstanding series of the Company’s debentures 

being called for immediate repayment (not by the Company) providing that the total amount called for 

immediate repayment is higher than NIS 40 million, all according to that provided in the trust deeds. 

The Series F debentures include a cause similar to that of Series D and E, but unlike Series D and E 

there is no minimum amount that has to be called for immediate repayment in the event of another 

series of debentures being called for immediate repayment (unlike the amount of NIS 40 million in 

Series D and E). 
 

6. The Company’s Series B and Series C debentures do not include financial covenants. The Series D, E 

and F debentures include financial covenants as stated hereunder. 
 

7. On February 3, 2016, subsequent to the date of the statement of financial position, the Company 

redeemed Series C debentures of the Company of a par value of NIS 113,663,143. The outstanding 

balance of the Series C debentures as at the date of issuing this report, amounted to a par value of 

NIS 113,663,142. 
 

8. In accordance with the terms of the trust deeds of the Company’s Series D, E and F debentures, the 

Company is permitted to early redeem (fully or partially) the Series D, E and F debentures. For 

additional details, see Paragraph 9.2 of the trust deed of the Series D debentures and Paragraph 9.2 of 

the trust deed of the Series E debentures (as detailed in the trust deeds annex of the Company’s shelf 

prospectus dated May 30, 2012 and as amended on September 30, 2013) and Paragraph 9.2 of the trust 

deed of the Series F debentures as detailed in the trust deeds annex of the Company’s shelf registration 

statement dated September 3, 2015 that  was issued in accordance with the Company’s shelf prospectus 

dated June 25, 2015. 
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9. See Note 17 to the financial statements for further details regarding the terms of the Company’s Series 

D, E and F debentures, including a commitment to comply with financial covenants, a commitment to 

not create a current pledge, and restrictions relating to dividend distribution.  
 

10. On July 15, 2015 meetings of the holders of the Company’s debentures (Series D and E) ratified the 

service of Reznik Paz Nevo Trustees Ltd. as trustee for the aforesaid debentures until the full repayment 

of such series. 

 

Presented hereunder are the results of calculating the financial covenants required from the Company in 

accordance with the terms of the Series D, E and F debentures as aforesaid, as at December 31, 2015 

and proximate to the date of signing the financial statements: 

 

Financial covenant Calculation results 

 As at December 31, 2015 Proximate to the date of 

signing the financial 

statements* 

Ratio of net debt to total balance 

sheet shall not exceed 60% 

29% 31% 

The Company’s total equity 

(including non-controlling 

interests) shall not fall below 

NIS 550 million 

NIS 1,170 million NIS 1,070 million 

 

* It is clarified that the Company’s commitment to comply with financial covenants relates to the 

results of the calculation at the end of each calendar quarter, based on the data included in the 

reviewed or audited financial statements of the Company at that date, and that the data included 

in the column “proximate to the date of signing the financial statements” is only an 

approximation, and have not been reviewed or audited. It is also noted that the data in the 

column “proximate to the date of signing the financial statements”, are presented assuming that 

the dividend in the amount of NIS 100 million that was declared by the Company along with 

the approval of the financial statements has actually been distributed. 

 

Presented hereunder are the results of calculating the dividend distribution restrictions that apply to the 

Company in accordance with the terms of the Series D, E and F debentures as at December 31, 2015 

(and at that date taking into account a dividend in the amount of NIS 100 million that was declared by 

the Company along with the approval of the financial statements): 

 

 

Restriction 

Calculation results as at 

December 31, 2015 

Calculation results as at 

December 31, 2015 taking 

into account a dividend that 

was declared along with the 

approval of the financial 

statements 

The Company’s total equity 

(including non-controlling 

interests) shall not fall below 

NIS 750 million  

NIS 1,170 million NIS 1,070 

Ratio of the Company’s net 

debt to EBITDA shall not 

exceed 7 

3.9 (*) 4 (*) 

 

(*) Revenue in the amount of NIS 16 million that derives from a change in an onerous contract was 

deducted from the EBITDA in the calculation of the ratio of the Company’s net debt to 

EBITDA.  
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11. Details regarding the credit rating of the Company 

On May 6, 2015 Ma’a lot announced that it is lowering the rating of Shufersal to ‘ilA’ instead of ‘ilA+’ 

with no change in the stable outlook of the Company’s debentures. The said rating report is included in 

the Company’s immediate report from May 6, 2015 (reference no. 2015-01-013656). On September 2, 

2015 Ma’a lot announced that it is awarding a rating of ‘ilA’ to the Company’s issuance of Series F 

debentures of up to a par value of NIS 400 million (see immediate report dated September 2, 2015, 

reference no. 2015-01-111957). 
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Information on the rating of outstanding debentures  

Series Name of rating company 
Current rating and 

current outlook 

Rating on date of 

issuance 

Additional ratings between the original date of issuance and reporting date 

Date Rating 

Series B Ma’alot ilA+ Stable AA Stable 

 

November 8, 2005 (expansion of series) 
ilAA Stable 

 

February 7, 2007 (expansion of series) 
ilAA Stable 

 

May 11, 2009 (affirmation of rating)  
ilAA Stable 

May 24, 2010 (affirmation of rating and lowering of Company 

rating outlook)  
ilAA Negative 

December 21, 2010 and December 26, 2010 (lowering of rating and 

expansion of series, respectively) 
ilAA- Stable 

 

October 4, 2011 (affirmation of rating) 
ilAA- Stable 

March 5, 2012 (affirmation of rating and lowering of outlook) ilAA- Negative 

September 20, 2012 (lowering of rating and ratification of outlook) ilA+ Negative 

December 2, 2012 (affirmation of rating and outlook) ilA+ Negative 

September 16, 2013 (affirmation of rating) ilA+ Negative 

October 3, 2013 (affirmation of rating) ilA+ Negative 

April 23, 2014 (affirmation of rating) ilA+ Stable 

May 6, 2015 (lowering of rating and ratification of outlook) ilA Stable 
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Series 
Name of rating 

company 

Current rating 

and current 

outlook 

Rating on 

date of 

issuance 

Additional ratings between the original date of issuance and reporting date 

Date Rating 

Series C Ma’alot ilA+ Stable AA Stable 

 

July 27, 2009 (initial rating)  
ilAA Stable 

May 24, 2010 (affirmation of rating and lowering of Company rating 

outlook)  
ilAA Negative 

December 21, 2010 and December 26, 2010 (lowering of rating and 

expansion of series, respectively) 
ilAA- Stable 

 

October 4, 2011 (affirmation of rating) 
ilAA- Stable 

March 5, 2012 (affirmation of rating and lowering of outlook) ilAA- Negative 

September 20, 2012 (lowering of rating and ratification of outlook) ilA+ Negative 

December 2, 2012 (affirmation of rating and outlook) ilA+ Negative 

September 16, 2013 (affirmation of rating) ilA+ Negative 

October 3, 2013 (affirmation of rating) ilA+ Negative 

April 23, 2014 (affirmation of rating) ilA+ Stable 

    May 6, 2015 (lowering of rating and ratification of outlook) ilA Stable 

Series D Ma’alot ilA+ Stable 
ilA+ 

Negative 

October 3, 2013 (initial rating) ilA+ Negative 

April 23, 2014 (affirmation of rating) ilA+ Stable 

    May 6, 2015 (lowering of rating and ratification of outlook) ilA Stable 

Series E Ma’alot ilA+ Stable 
ilA+ 

Negative 

October 3, 2013 (initial rating) ilA+ Negative 

April 23, 2014 (affirmation of rating) ilA+ Stable 

    May 6, 2015 (lowering of rating and ratification of outlook) ilA Stable 

Series F Ma’alot ilA Stable ilA Stable September 2, 2015 (initial rating) ilA Stable 
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Annual report of outstanding liabilities by maturity dates 

 

For data regarding the outstanding liabilities of the Company, see the immediate report on outstanding liabilities 

by maturity dates that was issued by the Company on the date of issuing the financial statements, which the 

information included in it is presented in this report by way of reference. 

 

 

 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors and Management wish to express their appreciation and thanks to the 

managers and employees of the Company for their professional work and their cooperation and contribution to 

the Company throughout the year. 
 

 

   

Rafi Bisker Shalom Fisher Itzik Abercohen 

Co-Chairman of the Board of 

Directors 

Co-Chairman of the Board of 

Directors 

CEO 

 

 

February 28, 2016 
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Auditors' Report to the Shareholders of Shufersal Ltd. 

Regarding the Audit of Internal Control Components over Financial 

Reporting in accordance with paragraph 9b(c) of the Israeli Securities 

Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970 
 

 

We have audited internal control components over financial reporting of Shufersal and its 

subsidiaries (hereinafter together “the Company”) as of December 31, 2015. These control 

components were determined as explained in the following paragraph. The Company's Board of 

Directors and Management are responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 

financial reporting and for their assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 

control components over financial reporting accompanying the periodic report as of the above 

date. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control components 

over financial reporting based on our audit.  

 

Audited internal control components over financial reporting were determined in accordance 

with Auditing Standard 104 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel “Audit of 

Internal Control Components over Financial Reporting”, and its amendments (hereinafter 

“Auditing Standard 104”). These components are: (1) Entity level controls, including controls 

over the preparation and closure of the financial reporting process and general information 

technology controls; (2) controls over the recording of revenue in the branches; (3) controls over 

purchases; (4) controls over inventory; (5) controls over payroll (all these hereinafter are named 

together “audited control components”). 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standard 104. This standard requires us to 

plan and perform the audit to identify the audited control components and to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether these control components were effective in all material respects. Our 

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, identifying 

the audited control components, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists in the audited 

control components, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of those 

control components based on the assessed risk. Our audit, regarding those control components, 

also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 

circumstances. Our audit referred only to the audited control components, as opposed to internal 

control over all significant processes related to financial reporting, therefore our opinion refers to 

the audited control components only. Our audit also did not refer to mutual effects between 

audited control components and non audited control components, therefore our opinion does not 

take into account these possible effects. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 

our opinion in the context described above. 

 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting as a whole, and 

internal control components in particular, may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 

projections of any current evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 

compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.



In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective audited control components as of 

December 31, 2015. 

 

We have also audited, in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and for each of the three years in the 

period ended December 31, 2015 and our report dated February 28, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion on 

those financial statements based on our audit and on the reports of the other auditors. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Somekh Chaikin 

Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) 

 

February 28, 2016 

 



Auditors' Report to the Shareholders of  

Shufersal Ltd. 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Shufersal 

Ltd. (hereinafter -  “the Company”) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and the consolidated 

statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity  and cash flows, for each of  the 

three years in the period ended December 31, 2015. These financial statements are the 

responsibility of the Company's Board of Directors and of its Management. Our responsibility is 

to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
 

We did not audit the financial statements of an equity accounted investee the investment in 

which amounted to approximately NIS 69 million and NIS 51 million as of December 31, 2015 

and 2014, respectively. The financial statements of that company were audited by other auditors 

whose reports thereon were furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to amounts 

emanating from the financial statements of such companies, is based solely on the reports of the 

other auditors. 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, 

including standards prescribed by the Auditors Regulations (Manner of Auditor's Performance) - 

1973. Such standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

that the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 

test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 

also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the 

Board of Directors and by Management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 

presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of the other auditors provide a reasonable 

basis for our opinion. 
 

In our opinion, based on our audit and on the reports of the other auditors, the consolidated 

financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 

financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 

2014 and their results of operations, changes in equity and cash flows, for each of the three years  

in the period ended December 31, 2015, in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and in accordance with the Securities Regulations (Annual Financial 

Statements) - 2010. 

 

We have also audited, in accordance with Auditing Standard 104 of the Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants in Israel “Audit of Internal Control Components over Financial Reporting, 

and its amendments, the components of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 

as of December 31, 2015, and our report dated February 28, 2016 expressed an unqualified 

opinion on the effectiveness of such components. 

 

Somekh Chaikin 

Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) 
 

February 28, 2016 



5 

Shufersal Ltd. 

 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
 
 

 
   December 31 December 31 

   2015 2014 

  Note NIS millions  NIS millions  

 
Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents    746   241  
Short-term deposits  4  270   -  
Marketable securities  6  10   655  
Trade receivables  7.A  1,145   1,102  
Other receivables  7.B  82   *100  
Current tax assets    32   36  
Inventory  8  643   753  

     
Total current assets    2,928   2,887  

     
     
Investment in associate  5  69   51  
Other investments  9  15   12  
Investment property  11  468   465  
Fixed assets  10  2,801   2,666  
Intangible assets and deferred expenses  12  859   827  
Deferred taxes  28  90   104  

Total non-current assets    4,302   4,125  

     
Total assets    7,230   7,012  

 

* See Note 2.G regarding reclassification. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Rafi Bisker Shalom Fisher Itzik Abercohen Talya Huber 

Co-Chairman of the Board 

of Directors 

Co-Chairman of the Board 

of Directors 

Chief Executive Officer CFO 

 

Date of approval: February 28, 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Shufersal Ltd. 

 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

 

 
   December 31 December 31 

   2015 2014 

  Note NIS millions  NIS millions  

 

Liabilities      

Current maturities of long term loans  16  3   2  

Current maturities in respect of debentures  17  674   697  

Trade payables  13  1,814   *1,542  

Other payables  14  719   *496  

Provisions  15  66   *66  

Total current liabilities    3,276   2,803  

     

To banks and others  16  10   12  

Debentures  17  2,450   2,753  

Employee benefits  18  131   138  

Provisions  15  51   73  

Other   19  54   146  

Deferred taxes  28  88   78  

Total non-current liabilities    2,784   3,200  

     

Contingent liabilities and commitments  30   

     

Equity  20   

Share capital    240   240  

Share premium    560   560  

Reserves    7   7  

Treasury shares   (85) (85) 

Retained earnings    439   281  

Total equity attributable to owners of      

 the Company    1,161   1,003  

Non-controlling interests    9   6  

     

Total equity    1,170   1,009  

     

Total liabilities and equity    7,230   7,012  

 

 

* See Note 2.G regarding reclassification. 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Shufersal Ltd. 

 

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Year Ended December 31 

 

 
  2015 2014 2013 

 Note NIS millions  NIS millions  NIS millions  

 

Sales and rentals   11,505   11,602   11,909  

Cost of sales and services   8,716   8,954   8,988  

Gross profit   2,789   2,648   2,921  
     

Selling and marketing expenses 25.A  2,385   2,570  2,371  

General and administrative expenses 25.B  130   125   123  

Total selling, marketing, general and     

 administrative expenses   2,515   2,695   2,494  
     

Operating profit (loss) before other income   274  (47)  427  
     

Other income (expenses), net 26  3  (1) (12) 

Increase in fair value and gain on sale of     

 investment property, net 11  9   12   23  
     

Total other income, net   12   11   11  
     

Operating profit (loss) after other income   286  (36)  438  
     

Financing expenses 27 (139) (188) (198) 

Financing income 27  52   85   39  

Financing expenses, net  (87) (103) (159) 
     

Profit (loss) before taxes on income    199  (139)  279  
     

Taxes on income 28 (46)  32  (69) 
     

Profit (loss) for the year   153  (107)  210  
     

Attributable to:     

Owners of the Company   150  (110)  209  

Non-controlling interests   3   3   1  

Profit (loss) for the year   153  (107)  210  

 
   

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 

(NIS) 

 

21 
 

0.71 

 

(0.52) 

 

0.99 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Shufersal Ltd. 

 

Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended December 31 

 

 
  2015 2014 2013 

 Note NIS millions  NIS millions  NIS millions  

 

Profit (loss) for the year   153  (107)  210  

     

Other comprehensive income (loss) items      

 that will not be transferred to profit or loss     

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan 18  9  (23) (5) 

Revaluation reserve for fixed assets 10  -   6   -  

Taxes on other comprehensive income items that     

 will not be transferred to profit or loss 28 (2)  5   1  

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year      

 that will not be transferred to profit or loss, net     

 of income tax   7  (12) (4) 

     

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year   160  (119)  206  

     

Attributable to:     

     

Owners of the Company   157  (122)  205  

Non-controlling interests   3   3   1  

     

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year   160  (119)  206  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Shufersal Ltd. 
 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended December 31 

 
 Attributable to owners of the Company  

         

   Revaluation      

 Share Share reserve for Treasury Retained  Non-controlling  

 capital premium fixed assets shares** earnings Total interests Total 

 NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions 

 
Balance as at January 1, 2015  240   560   7  (85)  281   1,003   6   1,009  

Share based payment, net of tax  -   -   -   -   1   1   -   1  

Profit for the year  -   -   -   -   150   150   3   153  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -   -   -   -   7   7   -   7  

Balance as at December 31, 2015  240   560   7  (85)  439   1,161   9   1,170  

         

Balance as at January 1, 2014   240   560   2  (85)  478   1,195   3   1,198  

Exercise of employee share options (1) *-  *-   -   -  -  *-   -  *-  

Dividend paid  -   -   -   -  (70) (70)  -  (70) 

Loss for the year  -   -   -   -  (110) (110)  3  (107) 

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax  -   -   5   -  (17) (12)  -  (12) 

Balance as at December 31, 2014  240   560   7  (85)  281   1,003   6   1,009  

         

Balance as at January 1, 2013  240   551   2  (85)  523   1,231   2   1,233  

Exercise of employee share options (1)  *-   9   -   -   -   9   -   9  

Dividend paid  -   -   -   -  (250) (250)  -  (250) 

Profit for the year  -   -   -   -   209   209   1   210  

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax  -   -   -   -  (4) (4)  -  (4) 

Balance as at December 31, 2013  240   560   2  (85)  478   1,195   3   1,198  

 
(1) See Note 22 regarding exercises of options by senior officers. 

 

* Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Shufersal Ltd. 
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31 

 

 

 
  2015 2014 2013 

  NIS millions  NIS millions  NIS millions  

 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit (loss) for the year  153  (107)  210  

    

Adjustments for:    

Depreciation of fixed assets  236   240   238  

Impairment losses on fixed assets  22   54  -  

Amortization of intangible assets and deferred expenses  26   24   23  

Taxes on income  46  (32)  69  

Income taxes paid (23) (74) (56) 

Income taxes received  6   29   18  

Financing expenses, net 87  103   159  

Change in fair value and gain on sale of investment    

 property, net (9) (12) (23) 

Change in employee benefits (3)  2   7  

Gain (loss) on sale of fixed assets (3)  1   -  

Share-based payment 1   -   -  

Change in provision for onerous contracts (28)  79  (2) 

Change in trade receivables (35)  66  (61) 

Change in other receivables  3  *(22) * 31   

Change in inventory  110  (39) (36) 

Change in trade payables  268   *17   *41  

Change in other payables, provisions and other  90   *1   12  

Net cash from operating activities  947   330   630  

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of fixed assets (384) (418) (310) 

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  16   20   -  

Investment in deferred expenses and intangible assets (25) (23) (16) 

Investment in investment property (6) (6) (17) 

Proceeds from sale of investment property  21   4   7  

Taxes paid on sale of investment property and fixed assets (3)  -  (2) 

Purchase of marketable securities (52) (590) (631) 

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities  697   702   199  

Cash payments from futures transactions, net (5)  -  (2) 

Repayment of long-term loans  13   -   -  

Loans granted  -   -  (2) 

Interest received  8   30   18  

Proceeds from withdrawal of (investment in)    

 short-term deposits (270)  40  (40) 

Acquisition of operation (1) (6) (6) 

Dividend income from investee company  3   1   -  

Net cash from (used in) investing activities  12  (246) (802) 

 

* See Note 2.G regarding reclassification. 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Shufersal Ltd. 

 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31 (cont’d) 

 

 

 
  2015 2014 2013 

  NIS millions  NIS millions  NIS millions  

 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issuance of debentures, net  313   -   911  

Repayment of debentures (588) (171) (114) 

Interest paid (162) (171) (139) 

Dividend paid  -  (70) (250) 

Exercise of share options by employees  -  *-   9  

Receipt of long-term loans from banks  -   3   1  

Repayment of long-term loans from banks (2) (5) (3) 

Partners’ withdrawals from partnership (15)  (12) (10) 

    

Net cash from (used in) financing activities (454) (426)  405  

    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  505  (342)  233  

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  241   583   350  

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  746   241   583  

 

* Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Shufersal Ltd.  

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2015 

 

 

Note 1 - General 
 

A. The reporting entity 

 

Shufersal Ltd. (hereinafter – the “Company” and/or “Shufersal”) is an Israeli resident company 

incorporated in Israel. The address of the Company’s registered office is 30 Benjamin Shmotkin Street, 

Rishon-Le-Zion. The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at December 31, 2015 comprise 

the Company, its subsidiaries (hereinafter together – “the Group”) and an investment in an associate. 

The Company is mainly held by Discount Investment Corporation Ltd., which is the Company’s 

controlling shareholder (which is controlled by IDB Development Corporation Ltd.) and by Isralom 

Assets Ltd. The Group is involved in the operation of a chain of supermarkets in Israel. The Group also 

operates in the area of real estate (through Shufersal Real-Estate Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary) and 

as part of this activity owns shopping centers and commercial centers, as well as manages a credit card 

customers’ club (through Shufersal Finance Limited Partnership) through which it offers the Shufersal 

and Yesh credit cards. The securities of the Company are registered for trade on the Tel Aviv Stock 

Exchange. 

 

B. Material events in the reporting period 

 

(1) The Company is continuing in its implementation of the updated business plan that was 

approved on June 26, 2014 by the Board of Directors and is aimed at creating commercial and 

operational infrastructure for growth in the coming years, bolstering its ability to compete, and 

improving the value offered to the customer, including a cheaper shopping basket and better 

service. 

As part of the plan’s implementation, in 2014 the Company recognized in the statement of 

income non-recurring operating expenses in the amount of NIS 184 million before an allocation 

of taxes (NIS 144 million net after an allocation of taxes) in respect of the effect of the aforesaid 

plan. Furthermore, the Group recorded an amount of NIS 4 million before an allocation of taxes 

(NIS 3 million net after an allocation of taxes) within other comprehensive loss, in respect of a 

voluntary retirement plan.  

In the reporting period the Company reexamined branches having operating and cash flow 

losses in the geographical locations and reached the conclusion that 15 branches (most of which 

are leased under an operating lease) of all the branches that were examined either no longer or 

only partly provide an operating and/or strategic contribution to the geographical location (the 

cash-generating unit) they belong to and therefore it was decided to shut down 14 of them, and 

the size of a freehold branch was reduced. Expenses in the total amount of NIS 42 million were 

recorded in respect of these branches (about NIS 33 million net after allocation of taxes) in the 

statement of income within the selling and marketing item. See Notes 10.D and 15(1) regarding 

the composition of these expenses. 

 

(2) Raising the minimum wage in Israel 

 

On January 21, 2015 a temporary order was published in the Official Gazette by which the 

minimum wage would be raised to NIS 5,000 per month in three stages. The first stage came 

into effect on April 1, 2015 and the minimum wage was raised to NIS 4,650. There are two 

more stages according to the temporary order: on July 1, 2016 the minimum wage will be raised 

to NIS 4,825 and on January 1, 2017 it will be raised to NIS 5,000. Furthermore, on March 30, 

2015 the Histadrut (the general federation of labor) and the Federation of Israeli Economic 

Organizations announced an adjustment to the minimum wage agreement by which another 

increase will take place in December 2017 such that the minimum wage will increase to NIS 

5,300. 



 

01 

Note 1 - General (cont’d) 
 

B. Material events in the reporting period (cont’d) 

 

The effect of raising the minimum wage as aforesaid on the financial statements is an increase 

of NIS 43 million in payroll expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015 (as compared with 

2014).  

 

 (3) For information regarding the Law for the Promotion of Competition in the Food Industry – 

2014, see Note 30 regarding contingent liabilities and commitments. 

 

C. Definitions 

 

In these financial statements – 

 

1. The Company – Shufersal Ltd. 

 

2. The Group – The Company and its subsidiaries. 

 

3. Subsidiaries – Companies, including a partnership, the financial statements of which are fully 

consolidated, directly or indirectly, with the financial statements of the Company. 

 

4. Investee companies – Subsidiaries and companies, including a partnership or joint venture, the 

Company's investment in which is stated, directly or indirectly, on the equity basis. 

 

5. Related party – Within its meaning in IAS 24 (2009), “Related Party Disclosures”. 

 

6. Interested parties – Within their meaning in Paragraph (1) of the definition of an “interested 

party” in Section 1 of the Securities Law - 1968. 

 

 

Note 2 - Basis of Preparation 
 

A. Statement of compliance 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs).  

 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Securities Regulations (Preparation 

of Annual Financial Statements) - 2010. 

 

The consolidated statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on February 

28, 2016. 

 

 

B. Functional and presentation currency 

 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in NIS, which is the Company’s functional 

currency, and have been rounded to the nearest thousand. The NIS is the currency that represents the 

principal economic environment in which the Company operates. 
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Note 2 - Basis of Preparation (cont’d) 
 

C. Basis of measurement 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following assets 

and liabilities: 

 

* Financial instruments, derivatives and other assets and liabilities measured at fair value through 

profit or loss; 

* Inventory measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 

* Investment in an associate. 

* Investment property measured at fair value. 

* Deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

* Assets and liabilities for employee benefits. 

* Provisions 

 

For further information regarding the measurement of these assets and liabilities, see Note 3 regarding 

significant accounting policies 

 

The value of non-monetary assets and equity items that were measured on the historical cost basis was 

adjusted to changes in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) until December 31, 2003, since until that date the 

Israeli economy was considered hyperinflationary. 

 

 

D. Use of significant estimates and judgments 

 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Management of the Company prepares the estimates 

on the basis of past experience and other matters that may, under certain circumstances, affect the 

considerations used for determining the amount of the assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates.  

 

The preparation of accounting estimates used in the preparation of the Group’s financial statements 

requires management to make assumptions regarding circumstances and events that involve considerable 

uncertainty. Management of the Company prepares the estimates on the basis of past experience, various 

facts, external circumstances, and reasonable assumptions according to the pertinent circumstances of 

each estimate. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future 

periods affected.  

 

Information about assumptions made by the Group with respect to the future and other reasons for 

uncertainty with respect to estimates that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year are included in the following notes: 

 

 Recoverable amount of cash generating units (the Company’s branches and sites) – see 

Note 3.H(2) regarding impairment testing. 

 

 Recoverable amount of cash-generating unit including goodwill (retail segment) – See Note 

12 regarding testing the recoverable amount of the retail segment. 
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Note 2 - Basis of Preparation (cont’d) 
 

D. Use of significant estimates and judgments (cont’d) 

 

Use of estimates (cont’d) 

 

 Fair value measurement of investment property – See Note 11 regarding fair value 

measurement. 

 

 Post-employment employee benefits –  See Note 3.J regarding measurement of the defined 

benefit liability and Note 18. 

 

 Assessment of probability of contingent liabilities – See Note 3.K(2) regarding provisions and 

Note 15(2). 

 

 Taxes on income, as to recognition of deferred tax asset in respect of losses – See Note 3.O 

and Note 28. 

 

 Onerous contracts – See Note 15(1). 

 

Change in estimates 

 

Provision for onerous contracts 

 

In the year ended December 31, 2015 the Company updated it provision for onerous contracts mainly in 

respect of changes in estimates relating to the rent payments that were used in the calculation on the 

date the provision was first created, and accordingly it reduced the provision for onerous contracts by a 

net amount of NIS 15 million in the year ended December 31, 2015. 

 

 

E. Operating cycle 

 

The Group’s operating cycle is one year.  

 

 

F. Determination of fair value 

 

Preparation of the financial statements requires the Group to determine the fair value of certain assets and 

liabilities. Further information about the assumptions that were used to determine fair value is included in 

the following notes: 

• Note 11, on investment property; 

• Note 22, on share-based payments; and 

• Note 24, on financial instruments; 

 

When determining the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses observable market data as much 

as possible. There are three levels of fair value measurements in the fair value hierarchy that are based on 

the data used in the measurement, as follows: 
 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly 

or indirectly  

• Level 3: inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
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Note 2 - Basis of Preparation (cont’d) 
 

G. Change in classification 

 

(1) The Group reclassified the balance of the provision for customer claims in the statement of 

financial position from other payables to provisions in the category of current liabilities. 

Comparative data as at December 31, 2014 were reclassified for consistency, so that an amount 

of NIS 38 million was classified from other payables to provisions in the category of current 

liabilities. 

 

(2) The Group reclassified part of the balance of advances to suppliers in the statement of financial 

position from other receivables to trade payables. 

Comparative data as at December 31, 2014 were reclassified for consistency, so that an amount 

of NIS 36 million was classified from other receivables to provisions in the category of current 

liabilities. 

 

(3) The Group reclassified part of the balance of insurance assets in the statement of financial 

position, which were received in respect of insurance claims that were closed in the past, from 

other receivables to provisions in the category of current liabilities. 

Comparative data as at December 31, 2014 were reclassified for consistency, so that an amount 

of NIS 15 million was classified from other receivables to provisions in the category of current 

liabilities. 

 

 

Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently for all periods presented in these 

consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities, including an 

associate, except as explained in Note 2, Basis of Preparation. 

 

A. Basis of consolidation 
 

(1) Business combinations 

 

(a) General 

 

The acquisition method is applied in business combinations. The acquisition date is the date on which 

the acquirer obtains control over the acquiree. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to 

variable returns from its involvement with the acquiree and it has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the acquiree. Substantive rights held by the Group and others are taking into 

account when assessing control. 

 

The Group recognizes goodwill on acquisition according to the fair value of the consideration 

transferred including any amounts recognized in respect of rights that do not confer control in the 

acquiree as well as the fair value at the acquisition date of any pre-existing equity right of the acquirer 

in the acquiree, less the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.  

 

Furthermore, goodwill is not adjusted in respect of the utilization of carry-forward tax losses that 

existed on the date of the business combination. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

A. Basis of consolidation (cont’d) 
 

(1) Business combinations (cont’d) 

 

(a) General (cont’d) 

 

The consideration transferred includes the fair value of the assets transferred to the previous owners of 

the acquiree and the liabilities incurred by the Group to the previous owners of the acquiree. 

 

Transaction costs directly related to the business combination, such as advisory fees, broker fees, legal 

fees, valuation costs, are expensed in the period the services are received.  

 

(b) Issuance of put option to non-controlling interests 

 

A put option issued by the Group to non-controlling interests that is settled in cash is recognized as a 

liability at the present value of the exercise price. In subsequent periods, revaluation of the liability in 

respect of the time factor is recognized as a financing expense. Revaluation of the liability in respect of 

business combinations that occurred prior to January 1, 2010, stemming from changes in the estimated 

amount of the payment, is recognized in goodwill. The Group’s share of a subsidiary’s profits includes 

the share of the non-controlling interests to which the Group issued a put option. 

 

Subsequent to January 1, 2010, the Group has not issued new put options to non-controlling interests. 

 

(2) Subsidiaries 
 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 

included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date 

that control is lost. 

 

(3) Investment in an associate accounted for by the equity method 

 

An associate is any entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, 

over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group 

holds between 20% and 50% of another entity. In assessing significant influence, potential voting rights 

that are currently exercisable or convertible into shares of the investee are taken into account. Joint 

ventures are joint arrangements in which the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement. 

 

The investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method and is recognized initially at 

cost. The cost of the investment includes transaction costs. The consolidated financial statements 

include the Group’s share of the income and expenses in profit or loss and of other comprehensive 

income of an equity accounted investee, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of 

the Group, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that 

significant influence or joint control ceases.  
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

A. Basis of consolidation (cont’d) 
 

(3) Investment in an associate accounted for by the equity method (cont’d) 

 

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted associate, the carrying 

amount of that interest is reduced to zero. The recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the 

extent that the Group has an obligation to support the investee or has made payments on behalf of the 

investee. 

 

In addition, within the framework of its investment in general, which includes a long-term loan granted 

to the investee, the Group examines the repayment ability of loans granted by the Group to the associate 

and accordingly considers the need for recognizing/reversing impairment in respect of such loans. 

 

(4) Transactions eliminated upon consolidation 

 

Intra-group balances and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 

eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized gains arising from transactions 

with subsidiaries are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

 

(5) Non-controlling interests 

 

Non-controlling interests comprise the equity of a subsidiary that cannot be attributed, directly or 

indirectly, to the parent company. 

 

Allocation of comprehensive income or loss to the shareholders 

 

Profit or loss and any part of other comprehensive income are allocated to the owners of the Company 

and the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income or loss is allocated to the owners of the 

Company and the non-controlling interests even if the result is a negative balance of non-controlling 

interests. 

 

 

B. Financial instruments 

 

As from January 1, 2012 the Group has early adopted IFRS 9 (2009) Financial Instruments 

(hereinafter – IFRS 9), as regards the classification and measurement of financial assets, with a 

date of initial application of January 1, 2012, without early adopting the rest of the rules 

provided in the final version of IFRS 9 (2014), Financial Instruments, which is mentioned in 

Section 1 of Note 3.R hereunder. IFRS 9 requires that an entity classify its financial assets as 

being measured at amortized cost or fair value according to the entity’s business model for 

managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 

assets. IFRS 9 permits, in certain circumstances, the inclusion of changes in the fair value of the 

assets in other comprehensive income (loss).  

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the financial assets held by the Group 

at the date of initial application (those not yet derecognized as at January 1, 2012) are classified 

based on the facts and circumstances of the business model by which they were managed at that 

time.  
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

B. Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 

1. Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial assets 

The Group has non-derivative financial assets as follows: investments in shares and debt 

instruments, a short-term deposit, loans and borrowings granted, trade and other receivables, 

and cash and cash equivalents. 

 

Initial recognition of financial assets 

The Group initially recognizes loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are 

created. All other financial assets acquired in a regular way purchase are recognized initially on 

the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument, meaning on the date the Group undertook to purchase or sell the asset. Financial 

assets are initially measured at fair value. If the financial asset is not subsequently accounted for 

at fair value through profit or loss, then the initial measurement includes transaction costs that 

are directly attributable to the asset acquisition or creation. The Group subsequently measures 

financial assets at either fair value or amortized cost. 

 

Derecognition of financial assets 

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights of the Group to the cash flows 

from the asset expire, or the Group transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on 

the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 

of the financial asset are transferred.  

Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognized 

as a separate asset or liability.  

Regular way sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, meaning on the date the 

Company undertook to sell the asset. 

See hereunder in section regarding non-derivative financial liabilities as to the offset of 

financial assets and financial liabilities. 

 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method 

and net of any impairment loss, if:  

● the asset is held within a business model with an objective to hold assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows; 

● the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest; and 

● the Group has not elected to designate them at fair value through profit or loss in order to 

reduce or eliminate an accounting mismatch.  
 

The fair value of financial assets measured at amortized cost including trade and other 

receivables is determined on the basis of the present value of future cash flows, discounted at 

the market interest rate at the date of measurement. Short-term trade and receivables without a 

stated interest rate are measured at the amount specified on the original invoice, if the 

discounting effect is immaterial. The fair value of loans and receivables is determined at initial 

recognition. 

The Group’s policy regarding impairment of financial assets measured at amortized cost is 

described in Section 1 of Note 3.H hereunder. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

B. Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 

1. Non-derivative financial instruments (cont’d) 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost (cont’d) 

Cash and cash equivalents – Cash comprises cash balances available for immediate use and call 

deposits. Cash equivalents comprise short-term highly liquid investments (with original 

maturities of three months or less) that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and 

are exposed to insignificant risks of change in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component 

of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 

 

Financial assets measured at fair value 

Financial assets other than those classified as measured at amortized cost are subsequently 

measured at fair value with all changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Group has non-derivative financial liabilities as follows: debentures issued by the 

Company, loans and borrowings from banks and others, finance lease liabilities, trade and other 

payables. 

 

Initial recognition of financial liabilities 

The Group initially recognizes debt securities issued on the date they originated. All other 

financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party 

to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, plus any transactions costs that are 

directly attributable. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at 

amortized cost according to the effective interest method. 

Transaction costs directly attributable to an expected issuance of an instrument that will be 

classified as a financial liability are recognized as an asset in the statement of financial position. 

These transaction costs are deducted from the financial liabilities at initial recognition, or are 

amortized as financing expenses in the statement of income when the issuance is no longer 

expected to occur. 
 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation of the Group, as specified in the 

agreement, expires or when it is discharged or cancelled. 
 

Offset of financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 

financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legal right to offset the 

amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously. 
 

2. Derivative financial instruments 

The Group holds derivative financial instruments for the purpose of economically hedging its 

linkage and foreign currency exposures, when hedge accounting is not applied in their respect.  

These derivatives are recognized initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are 

recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are 

measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognized in profit or loss as part of financing 

income or financing expenses. The fair value of forward contracts is based on their quoted 

market price.  
 

Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

B. Financial instruments (cont’d) 
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3. CPI-linked assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value 

The value of CPI-linked financial assets and liabilities, which are not measured at fair value, is 

remeasured every period in accordance with the actual change in the CPI. 
 

4. Share capital 

Ordinary shares – Ordinary shares are classified as equity 

 

Treasury shares - When share capital recognized as equity is repurchased by the Group, the 

amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax 

effects, is recognized as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury 

shares and stated as a deduction from equity. 

 

 

C. Fixed assets 

 

(1) Recognition and measurement 

Fixed asset items are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 

the asset. 

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, as well as any 

other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended 

use, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on 

which they are located (when the Group has an obligation to dismantle and remove the asset or 

to restore the site), and capitalized borrowing costs. 

Spare parts, servicing equipment and stand-by equipment are to be classified as fixed assets 

when they meet the definition of fixed assets in IAS 16, and are otherwise to be classified as 

inventory. 

 

Gains and losses on disposal of a fixed asset item are determined by comparing the net proceeds 

from disposal with the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized net within “other 

income” or “other expenses”, as relevant, in profit or loss. 

 

(2) Subsequent costs 

The cost of replacing part of a fixed asset item and other subsequent expenses are capitalized if 

it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with them will flow to the Group and 

their cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part of a fixed asset 

item is derecognized. The costs of day-to-day servicing of fixed assets are recognized in profit 

or loss as incurred. 

 

(3) Reclassification to investment property 

See Section E hereunder. 

 

(4) Determination of fair value of fixed assets recognized in business combinations 

The fair value of fixed assets recognized as a result of a business combination is based on 

market values. The market value of fixed assets is the estimated amount for which a fixed asset 

could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an 

arm’s length transaction wherein the parties each acted knowledgeably. 

 

 

Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

C. Fixed assets (cont’d) 

 

(5) Depreciation 

Depreciation is a systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life. 

The depreciable amount is the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its 

residual value. 
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An asset is depreciated from the date it is ready for use, meaning the date it reaches the location 

and condition required for it to operate in the manner intended by management. 

 

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 

lives of each part of the fixed asset item, since this method most closely reflects the expected 

pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased assets 

under finance lease agreements including lands and leasehold improvements are depreciated 

over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives. Freehold land is not depreciated. 

 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 Buildings   50 years 

 Leasehold improvements 3-24 years 

 Equipment and installations 3-17 years (mainly between10 and 14 years) 

 Motor vehicles   5-7 years 

 Lands under finance lease Over the lease period 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at least at the end of each 

reporting year and adjusted if appropriate. 

 

D. Intangible assets 

 

(1) Goodwill 

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries, acquisition of an operation in a 

business combination and goodwill that arises upon the recognition of a liability from a put 

option issued by the Group to non-controlling interests, is included in intangible assets. For 

information on measurement of goodwill at initial recognition, see Paragraph A(1) of this note. 

In subsequent periods goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Goodwill is not amortized systematically but at least once a year is tested for possible 

impairment. 

 

(2) Fair value of intangible assets created in business combinations 

The fair value of intangible assets created in business combinations (including customer 

relations and non-competition agreements) is based on the discounted value of cash flows 

expected to be derived from the use of these assets and their sale. This method required 

determination of an appropriate discount rate for the type of asset and its risk level. 

 

(3) Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are 

measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.  

 

(4) Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits 

embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognized in profit 

or loss as incurred.  
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

D. Intangible assets (cont’d) 

 

(5) Amortization 

Amortization is a systematic allocation of the amortizable amount of an intangible asset over its 

useful life. The amortizable amount is the cost of the asset less its residual value. 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis, over the estimated useful 

lives of the intangible assets from the date they are available for use, since this method most 

closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied 

in each asset. Internally generated intangible assets (such as cost of software) are not 

systematically amortized so long as they are not available for use, namely, so long as they are 

not in the working condition for their intended use. Accordingly, these intangible assets are 

tested for impairment at least once a year, until such date as they are available for use. 

 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 

 Software        3-7 years 

 Concession arrangement  8-10 years 

 Customer relationships   5-10 years 

 Leases     3-20 years 

 Non-competition agreements  2-5 years 

 

Amortization methods and useful lives are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting year 

and adjusted if appropriate.  

 

 

E. Investment property 

 

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, 

but not for: 

1. Use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or 

2. Sale in the ordinary course of business. 

 

Investment property is initially measured at cost including costs directly attributable to its acquisition. In 

subsequent periods the investment property is measured at fair value with any changes therein recognized 

in profit or loss. The cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct 

labor, and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition 

for their intended use. 

 

Investment property under construction is measured at fair value when its value can be reliably 

determined. When the fair value cannot be reliably determined, investment property under construction is 

measured at cost during the construction period until either construction is completed or its fair value 

becomes reliably determinable, whichever occurs earlier. 

 

A liability for the payment of a betterment levy on investment property is recognized when the rights are 

exercised. Accordingly, the negative cash flows in respect of the levy are included in the fair value 

measurement of investment property before recognition of the liability for payment of a betterment levy. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

E. Investment property (cont’d) 

 

Any gain or loss on sale of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds 

from the sale and the carrying amount of the item at the last financial reporting date) is recognized in 

profit or loss under increase in fair value and gain on sale of investment property, net. When an investment 

property that was previously classified as a fixed asset is sold, any related amount included in the 

revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. 

 

Reclassification to investment property 
 

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, which is measured at 

fair value, the property is remeasured to fair value and reclassified as investment property. Any gain 

arising on remeasurement is recognized in other comprehensive income and presented within equity in a 

revaluation reserve, unless the gain reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific property, in 

which case the gain is first recognized in profit or loss. Any loss is recognized directly in profit or loss. 

When an investment property that was previously classified as a fixed asset is sold, any related amount 

included in the revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. 

 

 

F. Leased assets 

 

Leases, including leases of lands from the Israel Lands Administration, where the Group assumes 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon initial 

recognition the leased asset is measured and a liability is recognized at an amount equal to the lower of its 

fair value and the present value of the future minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

 

When a lease includes both a land component and a buildings component, each component is considered 

separately for the purpose of classifying the lease, with the principal consideration regarding the 

classification of land being the fact that land normally has an indefinite useful life. 

 

The Group leases lands from the Israel Lands Administration (hereinafter – "the Administration") under 

capitalized and non-capitalized leases for a period of 49 years with an option for additional 49 years. 

 

Within the framework of non-capitalized leases, the Group recognized a liability in respect of minimum 

future lease payments, discounted at a real interest rate of 5% as of date of engagement with the 

Administration, based on an interest rate used by the Administration at that date. The minimum lease 

payments paid under a finance lease are divided between financing expenses and the amortization of the 

balance of liability. 

 

The Group did not recognize an asset and liability in respect of future payments for exercising an option 

to extend the lease period since these payments constitute contingent lease payments that are derived 

from the fair value of the land on the future date of exercising the option. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

G. Inventories 

 

Inventories constitute mainly goods at the Company's stores and warehouses. The cost of inventories is 

based on the “moving average” method. Cost includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories 

and the costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of work in 

progress and manufactured inventories, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based 

on normal operating capacity. The value of inventories is measured as the lower of cost and net realizable 

value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 

estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 

 

The net realizable value as above is tested on an ongoing basis taking into consideration the type of 

product and its age, in accordance with past experience of the Company regarding the life of the product. 

 

 

H. Impairment 

 

(1) Non-derivative financial assets 

 

The Group tests for impairment a financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss 

when objective evidence indicates that one or more loss events has occurred after the initial 

recognition of the asset, and these events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash 

flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 

 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default by a debtor, restructuring 

of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications 

that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers, 

changes in the economic environment that correlate with insolvency of issuers or the 

disappearance of an active market for a security, and observable data indicating a measurable 

decrease in the cash flow expected from a group of financial assets.  

 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the 

difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 

 

For significant financial assets measured at amortized cost, the Group considers evidence of 

impairment for each asset separately. All other financial assets measured at amortized cost are 

collectively assessed according to groups having similar risk characteristics.  

 

Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in a provision for loss against the financial 

asset measured at amortized cost. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to application of 

the effective interest method are reflected as a component of financing income (expenses). 

 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring 

after the impairment loss was recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the 

reversal is recognized in profit or loss.  
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

H. Impairment (cont’d) 

 

(2) Non-financial assets 

 

Timing of impairment testing 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment property, 

inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there 

is any indication of impairment. If there are indications of impairment, then the asset’s 

recoverable amount is estimated. Once a year and on the same date, or more frequently if there are 

indications of impairment, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of each cash generating 

unit that contains goodwill.  

 

Measurement of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its 

fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash generating unit, for 

which the estimated future cash flows from the cash generating unit were not adjusted.  

 

Determining cash-generating units 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 

together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are 

largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. For the purpose of 

impairment testing of goodwill acquired in a business combination, cash-generating units to 

which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is 

performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes, 

and which is not greater than the segment of operation prior to aggregation.  

 

The Company’s corporate assets 

The Company’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilized by more 

than one cash-generating unit. Certain corporate assets are allocated to cash-generating units on a 

reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of testing of the cash-generating 

units to which the corporate assets are allocated. Other corporate assets that cannot be allocated 

reasonably and consistently to cash-generating units are tested for impairment as part of the retail 

segment as a whole. 

 

The impairment test testing process in the Group with respect to "cash generating units" is 

conducted in three stages: 

 

Stage one – at the end of each reporting period, the Group examines each of its stores for signs 

indicating impairment of the store. 

 

Stage two – stores with a discounted cash inflow that does not exceed the amortized cost of the 

store's assets are tested as part of a cash generating unit that constitutes a geographic unit, when 

the positive cash inflows of one store depend on the cash inflows of another store located in the 

same geographic area.  A cash generating unit is a group of stores operating in the same 

geographic area, this in view of the Group’s strategy, according to which the shutting down of a 

losing store in an area where other branches are located might reduce the profitability of other 

stores located in that same geographic area. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

H. Impairment (cont’d) 

 

(2) Non-financial assets (cont’d) 

 

Stage three – The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the identified cash generating unit, 

as above, which includes the store that has a discounted cash inflow that does not exceed the 

amortized cost of the assets of the store. If this amount is lower than the carrying amortized cost, 

an impairment of the cash generating unit is recognized. 

 

In determining the recoverable amount of a cash generating unit, the Group uses forecasts of cash 

inflows that reflect the present condition of the asset and represent the best estimate of the 

economic conditions that will prevail during the remaining useful life of the asset. 

 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 

exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment 

losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the 

loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 

in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to 

the extent that the asset’s carrying amount, after reversal of the impairment loss, does not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no 

impairment loss had been recognized.  

 

(3) Investments in an associate accounted for by the equity method 

 

An investment in an associate is tested for impairment when objective evidence indicates there 

has been impairment 

 

If objective evidence indicates that the value of the investment may have been impaired, the 

Group estimates the recoverable amount of the investment, which is the greater of its value in use 

and its net selling price. 

 

See also Section A.(3) above regarding the recognition of the Group's share in losses of an 

associate that exceeds the value of the Group’s interest in the associate accounted for by the 

equity method. 

 

An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of the investment, after applying the 

equity method, exceeds its recoverable amount, and it is recognized in the statement of income 

under other expenses if it relates to an investment in shares and in financing expenses if it relates 

to the component of loans. 

 

An impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 

the recoverable amount of the investment after the impairment loss was recognized, and only to 

the extent that the investment’s carrying amount, after the reversal of the impairment loss, does 

not exceed the carrying amount of the investment that would have been determined by the equity 

method if no impairment loss had been recognized. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

I. Capitalization of borrowing costs 

 

Non-specific credit costs are capitalized to qualifying assets throughout the period required for completion 

and construction until they are ready for their intended use. Qualifying assets are assets in respect of which 

a significant period of time is required to make them ready for their intended use or sale. 

 

The Group capitalized non-specific credit costs to real estate and buildings. In this respect, a period of one 

year or over is recognized by the Group as a significant period of time. 

 

 

J. Employee benefits 
 

(1) Post-employment benefits 
 

The Group has a number of post-employment benefit plans. The plans are usually financed by 

deposits with insurance companies and they are classified as defined contribution plans and as 

defined benefit plans. 
 

(a) Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity 

pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive 

obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 

pension plans are recognized as an expense in profit or loss in the periods during which 

related services are rendered by employees. 
 

(b) Defined benefit plans 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined 

contribution plan. The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension 

plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit 

that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. 

That benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan 

assets is deducted. The Group determines the net interest expense (income) on the net 

defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to 

measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-

net defined benefit liability (asset). The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date 

on NIS-denominated high-quality corporate debentures that have a maturity date 

approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations at that date (see also Note 2.D). The 

calculation is performed ever year by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit 

method. 
 

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating 

to past service by employees is recognized in profit or loss upon amendment of the 

plan. 
 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) comprise actuarial gains and 

losses and the return on plan assets. Remeasurements are recognized immediately 

directly in retained earnings through other comprehensive income. Interest costs on a 

defined benefit obligation and interest income on plan assets are presented under 

financing expenses and financing income, respectively. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

J. Employee benefits (cont’d) 

 

(1) Post-employment benefits (cont’d) 
 

(b) Defined benefit plans (cont’d) 

The Group has a small and immaterial number of executive insurance policies that were 

issued before 2004, according to which the profit in real terms accumulated on the 

severance pay component will be paid to the employees upon their retirement. In 

respect of such policies, plan assets include both the balance of the severance pay 

component and the balance of the profit in real terms (if any) on the severance pay 

deposits that accumulated until the reporting date, and are presented at fair value. These 

plan assets are for a defined benefit plan that includes two liability components: a 

defined benefit plan component for severance pay, which is calculated on an actuarial 

basis as aforementioned, and another component that is the obligation to pay the 

accumulated profit in real terms (if any) upon the retirement of the employee. This 

component is measured at the balance of the actual profit in real terms that accumulated 

at the reporting date. 

 

(2) Other long-term employee benefits 

 

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits other than post-

employment benefit plans is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return 

for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its 

present value. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on NIS-denominated high-

quality corporate debentures that have a maturity date approximating the terms of the Group’s 

obligations at that date. The calculation is performed using the projected unit credit method.  

 

(3) Termination benefits 

 

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Group is committed demonstrably, 

without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment 

before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made 

to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are 

recognized as an expense if the Group has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable 

that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably.  

 

(4) Short-term employee benefits 

 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 

expensed as the related service is provided or upon the actual absence of the employee when the 

benefit is not accumulated (such as maternity leave). A liability is recognized for the amount 

expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a 

present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided 

by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

K. Provisions (cont’d) 

 

(5) Share-based payment transactions 

 

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognized as 

a salary expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees 

become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The amount recognized as an expense in respect 

of share-based payment awards that are conditional upon meeting service terms, is adjusted to 

reflect the number of awards that are expected to vest.  

 

 

K. Provisions 

 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 

flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the liability without adjustment for the Company’s credit risk. The carrying amount of the 

provision is adjusted each period to reflect the time that has passed and the amount of the adjustment is 

recognized as a financing expense.  

 

(1) Onerous contracts 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the 

Group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the 

contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of 

terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a 

provision is established, the Group recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with 

that contract. 

 

(2) Legal claims 

A provision for claims is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present 

legal or constructive obligation and it is more likely than not that an outflow of economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of obligation can be estimated 

reliably. When the value of time is material, the provision is measured at its present value. 

 

 

L. Revenue 

 

(1) Sale of goods 

 

Revenue from the sale of goods in the ordinary course of business is measured at the fair value 

of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and trade discounts granted to the 

customer at date of the transaction. When the credit period is short and constitutes the accepted 

credit in the industry, the future consideration is not discounted. When the credit period is 

longer than the accepted credit period in the industry, the Group recognizes the future 

consideration discounted to its present value using the risk rate of the industry. The difference 

between the fair value and the nominal amount of the future consideration is recognized as 

interest revenue over the excess credit period. 

 

Revenue is recognized upon delivery of the goods to the customer. 

 

Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

L. Revenue (cont’d) 
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(2) Commissions and membership fees 

 

Revenues receivable by a consolidated partnership with respect to commissions on transactions 

in Shufersal credit cards are recognized in accordance with the rates and dates on which the 

businesses are credited. Revenues from commissions in respect of credit spreads are recognized 

upon charging the customer, and revenues from membership fees are recognized on a monthly 

basis. When the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the primary supplier in a 

transaction, the revenue recognized is the net amount of commission made by the Group.  

 

(3) Rental income and management fees 

 

Rental income from investment property and the management fees used for the current 

operation of the property are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 

the lease.  

 

(4) Customer loyalty program 

 

As part of product sale transactions, the Company grants its customers a loyalty award by way 

of points which may be redeemed by future purchases of goods in its stores. A part of the 

proceeds from the sale of products entitling the customer to an award is allocated between the 

award credits and the other components of the sale. Revenues in respect of the proceeds from 

the sale of products entitling the award, is recognized by the Company only upon redemption of 

the award credits by the customer   and the fulfillment of the Company's obligations in respect 

thereof.   

 

 

M. Cost of sales 

 

(1) Cost of sales with respect to the retail activity, includes the cost of purchase of retail 

inventories, net of supplier rebates, as stated below, and expenses with respect to the loss and 

amortization of goods, shelf stocking, storage costs and transportation to the final point of sale. 

 

(2) Supplier rebates – these are recorded as a deduction from the cost of purchases. Accordingly the 

part of rebates in respect of goods remaining in the closing inventory is attributed to the 

inventory and only the other part of rebates reduces the cost of sales. 

 

Some of the said rebates comprise fixed rate rebates that are not dependent on the volume of 

purchases (the rebate is computed as a fixed percentage of turnover of purchases from the 

supplier, or as a fixed annual amount regardless of the volume of purchases) and some are 

variable rate rebates, which are recognized in the financial statements relatively to the purchases 

entitling the Company to the rebate. Further to the Food Law coming into effect, as from 2015, 

with respect to products the Food Law applies to, supplier rebates are given as part of the 

purchase price per unit of the product, other than rebates given according to the Sales Law. 

 

(3) Cost of services and management – Costs applying to the operation and management of 

commercial centers held by the Group as part of investment property, are recognized in profit or 

loss as part of cost of sales and services. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

N. Financing income and expenses 

 

Financing expenses comprise interest expense on debentures issued by the Company, interest expense 

on borrowings, changes in the time value of provisions and a liability in respect of a put option granted 

to non-controlling interests, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss, impairment losses recognized on financial assets (other than losses on trade receivables that are 

presented under general and administrative expenses), and losses on derivatives.  

 

Financing income comprises interest income linkage differences on financial assets, income from 

dividends, marketable securities, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss and gains from derivatives. Interest income is recognized as it accrues. Dividend income is 

recognized on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which, in the case of 

quoted securities, is the ex-dividend date. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss also include income from 

dividends and interest. 

 

In the statements of cash flows, interest received and dividends received are presented as part of cash 

flows from investing activities. Interest paid and dividends paid are presented as part of cash flows from 

financing activities. Accordingly, financing costs that were capitalized to qualifying assets are presented 

together with interest paid as part of cash flows from financing activities. 

 

 

O. Income tax expense 

 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current taxes and deferred taxes are recognized 

in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or to a transaction or event 

that are recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. In such cases, the income tax 

expense is recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.  

 

Current tax is the expected tax payable (or receivable) on the taxable income for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current taxes also include taxes in respect of 

prior years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 

is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial 

recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects 

neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, 

jointly controlled entities and associates, to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future, either by way of selling the investment or by way of distributing dividends in respect of the 

investment.  

 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 

they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax benefits and deductible temporary 

differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 

they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

O. Income tax expense (cont’d) 

 

Deferred tax assets that were not recognized are reevaluated at each reporting date and recognized if it 

has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 

taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a 

net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

 

A provision for uncertain tax positions, including additional tax and interest expenses, is recognized 

when it is more probable than not that the Group will have to use its economic resources to pay the 

obligation. 

 

P. Earnings per share 

 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 

calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for treasury shares. 

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, after adjustment for treasury shares, for the 

effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options. 

 

 

Q. Transactions with controlling shareholder 

 

Assets and liabilities included in a transaction with a controlling shareholder are measured at fair value 

on the date of the transaction. As the transaction is on the equity level, the Company includes the 

difference between the fair value and the consideration from the transaction in its equity. 

 

R. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

 

1. IFRS 9 (2014), Financial Instruments (hereinafter “the final version of IFRS 9”) 
 

The final version of IFRS 9, which includes revised guidance on the classification and 

measurement of financial instruments, and a new model for measuring impairment of financial 

assets. This guidance has been added to the chapter dealing with general hedge accounting 

requirements issued in 2013. 

 

Classification and measurement of financial assets 

In accordance with the final version of IFRS 9, there are three principal categories for 

measuring financial assets: amortized cost, fair value through profit and loss and fair value 

through other comprehensive income. The basis of classification for debt instruments is the 

entity’s business model for managing financial assets and the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments will be measured at fair 

value through profit and loss (unless the entity elected at initial recognition to present fair value 

changes in other comprehensive income). 

As described in Section B.(1) above, as from 2012 the Group early adopted the aforesaid 

classification and measurement principles for financial assets, without early adopting the other 

principles of the final version of IFRS 9 as described hereunder:  
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

R. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (cont’d) 

 

1. IFRS 9 (2014), Financial Instruments (hereinafter “the final version of IFRS 9”) (cont’d) 
 

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 

Changes in fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss that 

are attributable to changes in its own credit risk, should usually be recognized in other 

comprehensive income. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

The final version of IFRS 9 presents a new ‘expected credit loss’ model for calculating 

impairment. For most financial assets, the new model presents a dual measurement approach for 

impairment: if the credit risk of a financial asset has not increased significantly since its initial 

recognition, an impairment provision will be recorded in the amount of the expected credit 

losses that result from default events that are possible within the twelve months after the 

reporting date. If the credit risk has increased significantly, in most cases the impairment 

provision will increase and be recorded at the level of lifetime expected credit losses of the 

financial asset. 

 

The final version of IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 

with early adoption being permitted. It will be applied retrospectively with some exemptions. 

The Group has not yet commenced examining the effects of adopting the final version of IFRS 

9 on the financial statements. 

 

2. IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (hereinafter “IFRS 15”) 
 

IFRS 15 replaces the current guidance regarding recognition of revenues and presents a new 

model for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 provides two 

approaches for recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model includes five 

steps for analyzing transactions so as to determine when to recognize revenue and at what 

amount. Furthermore, IFRS 15 provides new and more extensive disclosure requirements than 

those that exist under current guidance. 

IFRS 15 is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and earlier 

application is permitted. IFRS 15 includes various alternative transitional provisions, so that 

companies can choose between one of the following alternatives at initial application: full 

retrospective application, full retrospective application with practical expedients, or application 

as from the mandatory effective date, with an adjustment to the balance of retained earnings at 

that date in respect of transactions that are not yet complete. 

The Group has not yet commenced examining the effects of adopting IFRS 15 on the financial 

statements. 

 

3. IFRS 16, Leases (hereinafter “IFRS 16”) 

 

IFRS 16 replaces the current guidance regarding leases. IFRS 16 annuls the existing 

requirement from lessees to classify leases as operating or finance leases. Instead of this, for 

lessees, IFRS 16 presents a unified model for the accounting treatment of all  leases according 

to which the lessee has to recognize an asset and liability in respect of the lease in its financial 

statements. Similarly, IFRS 16 determines new and expanded disclosure requirements from 

those required at present. 
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Note 3 - Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

R. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (cont’d) 

 

3. IFRS 16, Leases (hereinafter “IFRS 16”) (cont’d) 

 

IFRS 16 will become effective for annual  periods as of January 1, 2019, with the possibility of 

early adoption, so long as the Group has also early adopted IFRS 15. IFRS 16 includes a 

number of alternatives for the implementation of transitional provisions, so that companies can 

choose one of the following alternatives at the implementation date: full retrospective 

implementation or implementation from the effective date while adjusting the balance of 

retained earnings at that date in respect of transactions that are not yet complete. 

The Group has not yet commenced examining the effects of adopting IFRS 16 on the financial 

statements. 

 

4. Amendment to IAS 12, Income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised 

Losses (hereinafter “the Amendment”) 

 

The Amendment clarifies that for purposes of recognizing a deferred tax asset, the effect of 

reversal of deductible temporary differences should be excluded when assessing future taxable 

profit. This assessment should be made separately for different types of deductible temporary 

differences if tax laws contain restrictions on the types of taxable profit from which losses can 

be deducted. Moreover, the Amendment provides that probable future profits may include 

profits from the recovery of assets at more than their carrying value, if there is sufficient 

supporting evidence. The Amendment is applicable retrospectively for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2017 with early adoption being permitted.  The Group has not 

yet commenced examining the effects of adopting the Amendment on the financial statements. 

 

 

S. Foreign currency 

 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Group at exchange 

rates at the dates of the transactions. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency at the 

reporting date are translated into the functional currency on the basis of the exchange rate in effect on 

that date. Foreign exchange differences stemming from the translation to the functional currency are 

recognized in profit or loss. 
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Note 4 - Short-Term Deposits 

 
   December 31 December 31 

  Interest rate 2015 2014 

  % NIS millions NIS millions 

 

Unlinked deposits  0.18-0.28  270   -  

     

    270   -  

 

 

 

Note 5 - Investments in Investees 
 

A. Composition of the investment in an associate: 

 
   December 31 December 31 

   2015 2014 

   NIS millions NIS millions 

 

Investment:      

Original cost  8   8  

Long-term loans  83   90  

Provision for impairment and the Group’s share in      

 losses (*) (22) (47) 

      

Investment in associate, net  69   51  

 

The Group presents its investment in an associate with the addition of any long-term loans granted to it 

that form a part of the net investment after deducting its share in the losses of the associate and less a 

provision for impairment of the investment and the loans. 

 

On August 4, 2015 the Group received from one of the partners in Lev Hamifratz a notice that was 

addressed to it and the other partner in Lev Hamifratz (the Company, through a wholly owned 

subsidiary, and the other partner hold 37% and 26% of Lev Hamifratz, respectively) by which it wishes 

to sell all its holdings in Lev Hamifratz (37%) to a third party, including all the shareholders’ loans that 

had been granted on its behalf to Lev Hamifratz (hereinafter – “the holdings”) and that this notice is 

being provided to the Group and the other partner according to the right of first refusal mechanism 

provided in the shareholders’ agreement between the parties. The Company (and to the best of its 

knowledge also the other partner) did not exercise its right of first refusal. On January 13, 2016 the 

Group received a notice from the same partner that was addressed to it and the other partner in Lev 

Hamifratz by which it had signed a transaction to sell all its holdings in Lev Hamifratz (37%) to a third 

party, including all the shareholders’ loans that had been granted on its behalf to Lev Hamifratz, for a 

consideration of NIS 72 million (hereinafter “the consideration”). It is noted that part of the 

consideration is contingent upon preconditions. 

 

In the opinion of the Group, the consideration, subject to the preconditions, reflects a value of 

approximately NIS 69 million for the holdings. The total effect on the Group’s financial statements is 

revenue in the amount of NIS 26 million from reversing a provision for impairment of a loan that had 

been granted to Lev Hamifratz, which will be recognized in financing income. 
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Note 5 - Investments in Investees (cont’d) 
 

A. Composition of the investment in an associate: (cont’d) 

 

(*) The loans bear interest in accordance with Section 3(j) of the Israeli tax Ordinance. In the 

period of the report the nominal rate was 3.05% (in 2014: 3.23% nominal). The repayment date 

of the loans has not yet been set. 

 

 

B. Details of dividends and profit distributions received from investee companies 

 
  Year ended December 31 

  2015 2014 2013 

  NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions 

 

From subsidiaries and partnership 28  42   280  

 

 

C. Additional details of material subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the Company 

 
  Assets less liabilities 

 Loans/capital note of subsidiaries 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 NIS millions 

 

Shufersal Finance –       

 Limited Partnership  -   -  61  06  

Shufersal Real-Estate Ltd.*  166   818  696,1  06161 

Gidron Industries Ltd.  64   11  46  58  

     

  186   878  69281  06017 
 

* According to the financial statements of Shufersal Real Estate Ltd. in which branches leased to 

the Company are presented as investment property at fair value. 

 

The companies’ country of incorporation and operation is Israel. See Note 35 regarding equity interests. 

 

 

Note 6 - Marketable Securities 
 

  Yield rate   

  December 31 December 31 December 31 

  2015 2015 2014 

  % NIS millions NIS millions 

 

Government debentures  0.56  9   515  

Corporate debentures (*)  1.49  1   66  

Short-term loans (MAKAM)  -  -   74  

     

    10   655  
 

(*) Investments in corporate debentures rated at least "A" and at least "A2" by Maalot/Midroog, 

respectively.  
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Note 7 - Trade and Other Receivables 
 

A. Trade receivables 

 
   December 31 December 31 

   2015 2014 

   NIS millions NIS millions 

 

Open debts  78   76  

Checks and notes receivable  42   51  

  120   128  

Less – provision for doubtful debts  (61)  (11) 

  104   108  

Credit card companies  1,041   994  

   

  1,145   1,102  

 

B. Other receivables 

 
   December 31 December 31 

   2015 2014 

   NIS millions NIS millions 

 

Advances to suppliers  35   41  

Prepaid expenses  9   11  

Insurance assets  16   15  

Trust deposits (*)  8   7  

Loans to others  2   7  

Other receivables  12   19  

   

  82   100  

 

(*) The balance in trust deposits is in respect of real estate sales of the Group. 

 

See Note 33 on related and interested parties for information on other receivables due from related and 

interested parties. 

 

See Note 2.G regarding reclassification. 
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Note 8 - Inventory 
 

   December 31 December 31 

   2015 2014 

   NIS millions NIS millions 

 

Inventory of finished products  671   770  

Less provision for impairment of inventory (31) (22) 

Total inventory of finished products  640   748  

Raw materials and work in progress  3   5  

   

  643   753  

 

 

 

Note 9 - Other Investments 
 

   December 31 December 31 

   2015 2014 

   NIS millions NIS millions 

 

Investment in shares  15   12  

 

An investment in non-marketable shares of Wholesale Market for Agricultural Produce in Tel Aviv 

Company Ltd., which is accounted for as a financial asset measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
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Note 10 - Fixed Assets 
 Buildings     

 including land Leasehold Equipment and Motor  

 and lease rights improvements installations vehicles Total 

 NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions 
 

Cost      

Cost as at January 1, 2014  1,764   1,434   2,615   70   5,883  

Additions  108   128   168   17   421  

Disposals (12) (103) (137) (4) (256) 

Revaluation of assets      

 transferred to investment      

 property  6   -   -   -   6  

Transfer to investment      

 property (46)  -   -   -  (46) 

 Trsndfer from investment 

property to fixed assets 

 

 1  

 

 -  

 

 -  

 

 -  

 

 1  

Balance as at       

 December 31, 2014  06810   06159   2,646  81  66119 

Additions  120   117   163   6   406  

Disposals (3) (15) (37) (7) (62) 

Transfer to investment      

 property (4)  -   -   -  (4) 

Transfer from investment      

 property to fixed assets  3   -   -   -   3  

Balance as at       

 December 31, 2015  1,937   1,561   2,772   82   6,352  

      

Depreciation and      

 impairment losses      

Balance as at      

 January 1, 2014  410   875   1,978   32   3,295  

Depreciation for the year  30   111   154   6   301  

Decrease in impairment      

 provision* (1) (1)  -   -  (2) 

Transfer to investment      

 property (11)  -   -   -  (11) 

Disposals  -  (103) (134) (3) (240) 

Balance as at       

 December 31, 2014  118   881   1,998  15  16111 

Depreciation for the year  31   80   138   11   260  

Decrease in impairment      

 provision* (1) (1)  -   -  (2) 

Transfer to investment      

 property (2)  -   -   -  (2) 

Disposals  -  (13) (30) (5) (48) 

Balance as at       

 December 31, 2015  456   948   2,106   41   3,551  
 

Carrying amounts      

As at December 31, 2015  1,481   613   666   41   2,801  

As at December 31, 2014  1,393   577   648   48   2,666  

As at January 1, 2014  1,354   559   637   38   2,588  
 

* The balance of the impairment provision is NIS 43 million as at December 31, 2015 and NIS 45 million 

as at December 31, 2014. 
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Note 10 - Fixed Assets (cont’d) 
 

A. Fixed assets under construction and capitalized borrowing costs 

 

The Group acquired land for the purpose of constructing on it a logistics center that will serve as a fixed 

asset. The costs invested in land and equipment amounted to NIS 125 million in 2015 and included 

borrowing costs in the amount of NIS 10 million that were capitalized to fixed assets under 

construction. 

 

A nominal capitalization rate of 3.65% was used in order to determine the amount of borrowing costs 

eligible for capitalization. The Group does not have any specific borrowing costs. 

 

 

B. Details on land rights and buildings used as fixed assets by the Group 

 

The Group leases from the Israel Lands Administration several lots of land that it uses as branches of 

the chain for a period of 49 years. The Group has options to extend the period by an additional 49 years.  

 

Some of the lands leased in Israel have not yet been registered under the name of the Group companies 

at the Land Registry Office mainly due to registration procedures or technical problems. 

 

 

C. Acquisition of fixed assets 

 

Acquisition of fixed assets on credit 

The balance of liabilities payable in respect of fixed assets, which comprise leasehold improvements 

and equipment, is NIS 25 million and NIS 34 million as December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, 

respectively. 

 

Commitments to acquire fixed assets 

In the year ended December 31, 2015 the Group signed a contract for the acquisition of fixed assets in 

the amount of NIS 22 million (mainly in respect of the logistics center project). 

 

 

D. Shutting down and reducing the size of branches 

 

For the purpose of impairment testing the Company’s branches are aggregated into geographical 

locations that constitute separate cash-generating units (hereinafter – “cash-generating unit” or 

“location”). The Group’s strategy is that shutting down a losing store in an area where other branches 

are located might reduce the profitability of other branches located in that same geographical area, 

meaning there is a dependence between the cash flows of branches in the same geographical area. 

Therefore, the retail activity is tested for impairment on the level of the location, and the recoverable 

amount is calculated with respect to the cash-generating unit. 

 

In the reporting period the Company reexamined branches having operating and cash flow losses in the 

geographical locations and reached the conclusion that 15 branches (most of which are leased under an 

operating lease) of all the branches that were examined either no longer or only partly provide an 

operating and/or strategic contribution to the geographical location (the cash-generating unit) they belong 

to and therefore it was decided to shut down 14 of them, and the size of a freehold branch was reduced. 

Accordingly, the Company tests these branches for impairment (other than the branch it was decided to 

not shut down) separately from the cash-generating unit they belong to and calculates the recoverable 

amount for each branch in itself. 
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Note 10 - Fixed Assets (cont’d) 
 

D. Shutting down and reducing the size of branches (cont’d) 

 

As regards the aforesaid 14 branches, the Company calculated the recoverable amount in accordance with 

IAS 36. The recoverable amount of the branches planned to be shut down was measured separately, on the 

basis of fair value less costs of disposal. The fair value measurements are classified at level 3 of the fair 

value hierarchy. 

The key assumption in the calculation of the recoverable amount of the branches is that these branches 

will not generate any economic benefits until they are shut down, and therefore equipment and leasehold 

improvements that are not expected to be sold or transferred to another branch were fully written-off, 

whereas the other assets were tested on the basis of the economic benefits the Company expects they will 

generate in the other branches. The recoverable amount of the area cut off the branch under the 

Company’s ownership was measured on the basis of fair value (level 3) less costs of disposal, according to 

an assessment of an external appraiser. 

 

The recoverable amount of the branches that are planned to be shut down, including the cut off area 

mentioned above, is lower than their carrying amount and therefore an impairment loss was recognized in 

the amount of NIS 22 million, before tax, for the year ended December 31, 2015, in respect of fixed asset 

items in those branches. 

 

 

E. See Note 31 regarding liens. 
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Note 11 - Investment Property 
 

Presented hereunder is the movement in investment property during the year (measured at level 3 

of the fair value hierarchy): 

 
  Investment property  

 Land and buildings under construction Total 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

 NIS millions 

 
Balance as at January 1 439   379   26   37   465   416  

       

Additions and changes in       

 fair  value during the year:       

Acquisitions and investments in       

 investment property  5   4   -   -   5   4  

Acquisitions and investments in        

 investment property under       

 construction  -   -   4   2   4   2  

Change in fair value and gain       

 (loss) on sale of investment        

 property, net  6   17   3  (5)  9   12  

Transfer from investment        

 property under construction       

 to land and buildings       

Transfer from investment 

property under construction to 

fixed assets 

Transfer from investment 

 

 

 - 

 

 

4 

  

 

    - 

 

 

(1) 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 property to fixed assets (3) (1)  -   -  (3) (1) 

Transfer from fixed assets to       

 investment property  2   35   -   -   2  35  

Changes in respect of       

 appreciation levies and       

 payments to the Israel        

 Lands Administration  7   1   -  -    7   1  

Total additions  17   60   7  (7)  24  53  

       

Disposals during the year:       

Sales (21)  -   -  (4) (21) (4) 

       

Balance as at December 31  435   439   33   26   468   465  
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Note 11 - Investment Property (cont’d) 
 

A. Change in fair value and gain on sale of investment property, net 

 

Measurement of fair value –  

 

The Group’s investment property is measured at level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. No reliable 

comparable information was available in respect thereto, since the significant inputs that were used to 

measure fair value are not observable in the market.  

 

Rental properties for commercial purposes –  

1. Discounted income technique - The fair value is estimated using a discounted income 

technique: the valuation model is based on net annual cash flows, which derive from the 

property, discounted at a rate reflecting the specific risks inherent in them and as customary in 

comparable properties. When actual rent agreements include rent payments that are different 

from market rent, adjustments are made to reflect the actual rent payments in the period of the 

contract. The valuations take into account the type of tenants and the financial strength of the 

tenants that actually occupy the leasehold or are responsible for fulfilling the rental obligations 

or may occupy the leasehold when available property is rented out; distribution of the 

responsibility for the property’s maintenance and insurance between the Group and the tenant; 

the physical condition and remaining economic life of the property, in those locations that these 

parameters are relevant. 

2. Significant unobservable inputs –  

Market rentals per meter of between NIS 10 and NIS 135 (mainly between NIS 50 and NIS 90 

per meter).  

Cash flow discount rate of between 7.5% and 12% (mainly between 8% and 10%). 

  

Investment property under construction –  

1. “Extraction method” – The valuation is based on extracting the estimated fair value of the 

investment property after completion of its construction, based on net cash flows expected to be 

received from the property at an appropriate discount rate, less the present value of the 

estimated construction costs expected for its completion and less a reasonable entrepreneurial 

profit when relevant, taking into account a discount rate adjusted for the property’s relevant 

risks and characteristics. 

2. Significant unobservable inputs –  

Construction costs per square meter of between NIS 4 thousand and NIS 5 thousand. 

Entrepreneurial profit margin of about 15%-25%. 

Cash flow discount rate of between 7.75% and 9%. 

 

Valuation processes used by the Company –  

 

The fair value of the investment property is determined regularly by external, independent valuers 

having appropriate recognized professional qualifications and experience in the location and category of 

the property being valued. External valuations are performed regularly at the end of each year and are 

reviewed by the Company’s property department. In the rest of the reporting periods the Group 

performs internal valuations using a similar methodology, in order to confirm that there was no material 

change in the value of the property. An external valuer will perform the valuation also in the case of 

changes occurring in parameters that affect the value of the property. 

 

The principal unobservable inputs are as follows: 

a. The entrepreneurial profit margin – the accepted entrepreneurial profit margin for new and old 

commercial and office properties. Guidelines for entrepreneurial profit margins according to 

guidelines of the Government Assessor. 

Note 11 - Investment Property (cont’d) 
 

A. Change in fair value and gain on sale of investment property, net (cont’d) 
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Valuation processes used by the Company – (cont’d) 

 

b. The rate of return on investment property – based on data of the Government Assessor and the 

rate of return in transactions of rental properties. 

c. Market rent – based on the rent actually paid for commercial and office rental properties and on 

information regarding rentals in the same area.  

d. Costs of construction per square meter are based on the accepted costs in the industry for similar 

buildings taking into account budgets determined by the Company’s engineer in each project. 

e. The discount rate – based on data of the Government Assessor for the second half of 2014 that 

were published in June 2015 as to rates of return on rental properties used for commercial 

purposes taking into account components relating to risk, uncertainty and nature of the tenants 

such as anchors, national chains, etc. Based also on rates of return and similar transactions. 

 

 

B. Sales 

 

In the reporting period the Company sold investment properties for a total consideration of NIS 21 

million. The Company recognized a gain of NIS 5 million on these sales. 

In 2014 the Company sold investment properties under construction for a total consideration of NIS 4 

million. The Company recognized a loss of NIS 2 million on these sales. 

 

 

C. Amounts that were recognized in the statement of income 

 
  Year ended December 31 

  2015 2014 2013 

  NIS millions 

 

Rental income from investment property  49   49  48  

Direct operating expenses arising from     

 investment property that generated rental     

 income during the period (20) (19) (17) 

    

  29   30  31  
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Note 11 - Investment Property (cont’d) 
 

D. Details on land rights considered investment property by the Group 

 
  End of December 31 

  lease period* 2015 2014 

  Years NIS millions NIS millions 

 

Freehold rights   144   128  

Under capitalized finance lease 2071-2109  324   337  

       

   468   465  

 

* Including the period of the option. 

 

Some of the freehold and leasehold lands in Israel have not yet been registered under the name of the 

Group companies at the Land Registry Office mainly due to registration procedures or technical 

problems. 

 

 

E. Details on lease agreements 

 

The future minimum lease payments receivable under lease agreements over the period of the 

agreement, without an option to extend the lease, are as follows: 

 
  December 31, 2015 

  Leasehold Freehold  

  assets assets Total 

  NIS millions NIS millions NIS millions 

 

Less than one year   24   6   30  

Between one and five years   70   5   75  

More than five years   3   1   4  

     

   97   12   109  

 

 

F. See Note 31 regarding liens. 

 

 

 

  




